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H.E. Mr. Abdulla Bin Nasser Al Misnad

Chairman

B o a r d  o f

D i r e c t o r s

H.E. Sheikh Hamad Bin Faisal Al Thani

Vice Chairman

Dr. Fadi Makki

Independent Member

Dr. Yarob Rayyan

Independent Member

Mr. Omar Al Hassan

Representative of the Company’s Employees

H.E. Mr. Abdulla Bin Nasser Al Misnad is the Chairman of Al Misnad Company, having 
its roots in the private sector since the 1950’s.

H.E. Mr. Al Misnad is a prominent and active businessman in Qatar, and the Founder 
and Chairman of the Board of Directors of Qatari Investors Group, a publicly listed 
shareholding company. 

The following are some of the positions held by H.E. Mr. Abdulla Bin Nasser Al Misnad: 
• Chairman, Al Misnad LLC
• Chairman, Qatari Investors Group
• Vice Chairman, Al Khaliji Bank
• Chairman, Vodafone Qatar

H.E. Sheikh Hamad Bin Faisal Al Thani is an active member of the Qatari business 
community and has held a number of prominent positions, including the post of 
Minister of Economy and Commerce of Qatar and Vice Chairman of Qatar National 
Bank (QNB).

In addition to his post as Chairman and Managing Director of Al Khaliji Bank, His 
Excellency currently holds the following key positions:
• Vice Chairman, Qatari Investors Group
• Board Member, Qatari Businessmen Association
• Board Member, Qatar Insurance Company (QIC)

Other senior positions previously held by His Excellency include:
• Chairman, Qatar General Organization for Standard & Metrology
• Member, Supreme Council for Economic Affairs & Investment
• Director, Customs Department
• Heir Apparent Office, Diwan Al Amiri
• He holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Political Science

Mr. Al-Hassan joined QIG in September 2009 to provide support within QIG Group businesses and 
study any possible investment opportunities focusing mainly on the company’s technology and 
security sectors.

Within the last 15 years, Mr. Al Hassan gained a strong experience in administration, public 
relations, media scope and a broad experience in organizing conferences and exhibitions.

Before joining QIG, Mr. Al-Hassan has worked in the education field under the umbrella of Qatari 
Ministry of Education and Higher Education.

• He holds a certification in Information & Technology from Qatar University
• He is an Executive Director at QIG attached to the CEO office

Dr. Fadi Makki has more than 20 years of experience in public sector reforms, strategic consulting, 
financial markets regulations, behavioral economics and trade policy as well as organizational 
restructuring.

Dr. Makki has held the following key positions:
• Director General of the Lebanese Ministry of Economy and Commerce and Trade
• Director General/Advisor in the Prime Minister’s Office and during his term, he was the Chief 

Negotiator for Lebanon’s accession into the World Trade Organization (WTO)
• Director of Booz & Company Middle East
• Senior Fellow at Georgetown University-Qatar, co-leading the tradelab project and a Senior Public 

Policy Fellow at AUB’s Issam Fares Institute of Public Policy

Dr. Yarob Rayyan has more than 30 years of varied experience in the GCC market in management, 
legal, mediation and arbitration.

Dr. Rayyan holds the following key positions:
• A member of the Palestinian Bar Association and the International Bar Association (IBA) as well 

as a member of the Commercial Arbitration Center of GCC
• An accredited arbitrator in the GCC Commercial Arbitration Center
• A lecturer in the GCC in International Contracts (FIDIC) and in topics related to the rules and 

regulations of international arbitration and comparative law
• An accredited arbitrator within the GCC and is a practitioner and lecturer at Qatar International 

Reconciliation & Arbitration Center
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T e a m

Mr. Alex Aclimandos

Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Akram Elamin

Chief Administration Officer

Mr. Pradeep Kumar

Executive Director
QIG Marine Services

Mr. Toufic Farah

Executive Director
QIG Technology

Mr. José A. Escalera

Director – AKCC

Mr. Mohamed Matari

Chief Audit Executive

Mr. Hany Moqbel

Legal Counsel

Mr. Samir Hamaidi

Chief Business Development Officer
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C h a i r m a n ’ s

M e s s a g e

providing a
solid profit margin of 24.6%

during 2019. 

The Board of Directors recommends
the distribution of dividends at

QAR 0.055 per share.

Revenue of
QAR

628.7m

Net profit of
QAR

148.5m

The Group achieved

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of Qatari Investors Group Board of Directors, it 
is my pleasure to present to you our Annual Report which 
highlights the financial and operational performance of the 
Group as well as the progress and accomplishments achieved 
so far. Moreover, the Annual Report includes the Corporate 
Governance Report of the fiscal year ended on December 31, 
2019 and the business plan for the year 2020.

The Gulf market has not recovered yet from the difficulties 
resulting from the international economic turmoil. This has 
affected profits and performance in various sectors. However, 
and in order to be prudent with our resources, the Group and 
its subsidiaries have focused on investments and projects 
that guarantee balanced cash flows.

During 2019, the Group achieved a revenue of 628.7 million 
Qatari Riyals and a net profit of 148.5 million Qatari Riyals 
resulting in a solid profit margin of 24.6%. Before interest, 
taxes, depreciation and amortization were deducted, the 
company achieved a profit of 348 million Qatari Riyals. Our 
operating activities generated cash liquidity amounting to 158 
million Riyals and total assets reached 4.778 billion Riyals on 
December 31, 2019.

Like most of the construction related sectors in the State 
of Qatar, the industrial sector has not been immune to the 
difficult trading conditions witnessed by such sectors in 2019. 
Consequently, the industrial sector of the company achieved 
a gross margin of 50% and a net margin of 33%. Our industrial 
companies have maintained their market share compared to 
their competitors, and some of these companies have taken 
a pioneering position in some products. Technology and IT 
sectors’ revenues increased by 36%, however, competitive 
pressures produced margins below expectations. Qatar 
Security Systems, the group’s subsidiary, has obtained 
numerous ISO certifications, enabling it to expand its bidding 
capacity and bid for new business. We have invested in 
new technology and assets in our Maritime Transport and 
Logistics division, and have signed new agreements with the 

Mediterranean Shipping Company in relation to cruises and 
logistical services. Revenue from our real estate portfolio 
increased by 7% and occupancy rates during 2019 reached 
95%. Finally, the group signed a new franchise agreement 
with Europcar Global, which is a step forward in our 
diversification drive.

As we believe that good corporate governance is a value-
adding factor, we have formed a Corporate Governance 
Committee and mandated it to conduct a comprehensive 
evaluation at the group level to identify any potential gaps 
and provide recommendations. The Committee will remain 
active to ensure that the standards we are expected to 
adhere to are maintained. We are in compliance with both the 
results of the Group governance, conducted by the company’s 
Auditors, and internal controls over the financial reporting.

The results of the Group have been included in the audited 
financial statements and the corresponding disclosures. 
The Group seeks to achieve a balance to be able to finance 
its growth and strategy while maintaining prudent liquidity 
levels. Accordingly, the Board of Directors recommends the 
distribution of dividends at QR 0.055 per share.

We aim during the coming period, especially in the year 2020 
to work on further development and maintain to achieve 
customer satisfaction and build the trust of investors and 
shareholders. The belief of the senior executive management 
in the capabilities of the Group and its human potential is 
what provides us with the energy and positivity necessary to 
reach the best levels of success and overcome difficulties and 
challenges and bring the Group about realizing its plans.

In conclusion, I would like to thank you for your valuable 
trust in Qatari Investors Group.

Abdulla Bin Nasser Al Misnad
Chairman of the Board of Directors
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Q I G

P r o f  i l e

B r i e f

QIG is a diversified conglomerate listed on 
the Qatar Stock Exchange. The group owns and 

operates several subsidiaries in diverse sectors. 
Historically, the group’s focus has been on B2B 

operations.

QIG’s subsidiaries are a mix of organically grown 
enterprises and international partnerships. Our brands 

have an established presence and a record of 
accomplishment in the Qatari market, serving flagship 
projects, customers and facilities in the private and public 
sectors.

Through our subsidiaries, we add sustainable value to our 
shareholders with prudent management, diversification 
and agility. For our customers and partners, we work 
tirelessly to maintain trust, satisfaction and reliability.

Our activities drive the long-term growth and 
development of our subsidiaries while fresh 

opportunities in Qatar and overseas are sought. 
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Q a t a r i

I n v e s t o r s

G r o u p

QIG Industry
QIG Industry is a supplier of building materials and 
services to many of Qatar’s completed and developing 
iconic projects. QIG Industry operates the group’s 
flagship unit, Al Khalij Cement Company, one of two 
integrated cement factories in Qatar. Al Khalij produces 
clinker, Ordinary Portland Cement and Oil Well Cement. 
In addition, QIG Industry has shareholdings in 
companies that offer formwork and scaffolding systems, 
fabrication of structural steel products, water and 
chemical tanks and road safety barriers.

QIG Marine Services
QIG Marine Services provides bespoke, complete and 
integrated shipping and logistics solutions. The 
combination of its local network coverage with its global 
reach results in a unique ability to deliver unmatched 
services to meet the ever-changing expectations of the 
market. QIG Marine operates First Shipping Agency, Al 
Masseya Shipping Agency, United Shipping Agency and 
United Logistics. QIG Marine also has partnership 
agreements with (MSC) Cargo and Medlog for logistics 
and an agency agreement with (MSC) Cruises.

QIG Technology
QIG Technology specializes in integrated security 
systems, detection, life safety and other innovative 
digital systems. Through a wide network of international 
partners and a highly skilled and qualified local 
workforce, QIG Technology installs and services 
equipment, and provides turnkey solutions from the 
design phase all the way to operations and 
maintenance. QIG Technology holds ISO 9001, 14001 and 
45001 certifications.

QIG Property
QIG Property develops, owns and manages a portfolio of 
prime commercial and residential real estate in Doha 
and its surrounding areas. The portfolio includes a 
commercial tower with over 26,000m2 of rentable office 
and retail space, several residential units in upscale 
areas, and land holdings earmarked for future 
development.

QIG Projects Development
QIG Projects Development serves as the group’s 
incubator and developer of newly integrated businesses. 
QIG Projects’ mission is to spearhead the group’s 
diversification efforts and leverage its strengths in the 
identification of new opportunities, their development 
and smooth integration into the corporate structure. QIG 
Projects operates the Europcar franchise in Qatar, among 
other ventures.

QIG’s activities span a growing number of sectors. Through its subsidiaries, the 
group benefits from a wide market footprint and in depth knowledge in multiple 
sectors. QIG’s principal activities fall in the following categories.

MARINE SERVICES

PROPERTY
PROJECTS

DEVELOPMENT

INDUSTRY

TECHNOLOGY
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C o r p o r a t e

G o v e r n a n c e

R e p o r t

2 0 1 9

Qatari Investors Group’s Corporate 

Governance Report sets out the 

company’s commitment to good 

corporate governance and describes 

what has been achieved during the 

year.

To the 
Shareholders of Qatari Investors Group Q.P.S.C
Doha – State of Qatar

In accordance with the requirements of Article 24 of 
the Governance Code for Companies & Legal Entities 
Listed on the Main Market Issued by the Qatar Financial 
Markets Authority (QFMA) Board pursuant to Decision 
No. (5) of 2016, we have carried out  a limited assurance 
engagement over Board of Directors’ assessment of 
compliance of Qatari Investors Group Q.P.S.C referred as the 
“Company” with the QFMA’s law and relevant legislations, 
including the Governance Code for Companies and Legal 
Entities Listed on the Main Market (the “Code”) as of 
31 December 2019 as noted in the Board of Director’s 
Corporate Governance Report (Corporate Governance 
Report), excluding provisions listed under Other 
information section of this report

Responsibilities of the directors and those charged with 
governance
The Board of Directors of the Company are responsible for 
preparing the accompanying Corporate Governance Report 
that covers at a minimum the requirements of Article 4 of 
the Code.

The Board of Directors are also responsible for ensuring the 
Company’s compliance with the QFMA’s law and relevant 
legislations and the Governance Code for Companies & 
Legal Entities Listed on the Main Market issued by the 
QFMA’s Board pursuant to Decision No. (5) of 2016 and 
preparing the, ‘Report on compliance with the QFMA’s law 
and relevant legislations, including the Code’, as set out 
in sections 1 to 11 and 13 of the Corporate Governance 
Report.

Responsibilities of the Assurance Practitioner
Our responsibilities are to issue a limited assurance 
conclusion on whether anything has come to our attention 
that causes us to believe that the “Board of Directors’ 
Governance Report on compliance with the QFMA’s law 
and relevant legislations, including the Code” presented in 
sections 1 to 11 and 13 do not present fairly, in all material 
respects, the Company’s compliance with the QFMA’s law 
and relevant legislations, including the Code, based on our 
limited assurance procedures.

Reporting on compliance with QFMA’s law and relevant 
legislations, including the Code
We conducted our engagement in accordance with 
International Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 
(Revised) ‘Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits 
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information’ issued 
by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards 
Board (‘IAASB’). This standard requires that we plan and 
perform our procedures to obtain limited assurance about 
whether anything has come to our attention that causes 
us to believe that the Board of Directors’ statement of 
compliance with the QFMA’s law and relevant legislations, 
including the Code, taken as a whole, is not prepared in all 
material respects, in accordance with the QFMA’s law and 
relevant legislations, including the Code.

The procedures performed in a limited assurance 
engagement vary in nature and timing from, and are less 
in extent than for, a reasonable assurance engagement. 
Consequently, the level of assurance obtained in a 
limited assurance engagement is substantially lower 
than the assurance that would have been obtained had a 
reasonable assurance engagement been performed. We did 
not perform procedures to identify additional procedures 
that would have been performed if this were a reasonable 
assurance engagement.

A limited assurance engagement involves assessing the 
risks of material misstatement of the Board of Directors’ 
statement of compliance with the QFMA’s law and relevant 
legislations, including the Code, whether due to fraud or 
error and responding to the assessed risks as necessary 
in the circumstances. A limited assurance engagement is 
substantially less in scope than a reasonable assurance 
engagement in relation to both the risk assessment 
procedures, including an understanding of internal control, 
and the procedures performed in response to the assessed 
risks.

Accordingly, we do not express a reasonable assurance 
opinion about whether the Board of Directors’ statement of 
compliance with the QFMA’s law and relevant legislations, 
including the Code, taken as a whole has been prepared, 
in all material respects, in accordance with the ’s law and 
relevant legislations, including the Code.

The procedures we performed were based on our 
professional judgment and included inquiries, observation 
of processes performed, inspection of documents, 
evaluating the appropriateness of reporting policies of the 
Company, and agreeing with underlying records.

Independent Assurance Report to the Shareholders of Qatari Investors Group Q.P.S.C in connection with 
compliance to the Qatar Financial Markets Authority’s Law and relevant legislations, including the Governance 
Code for Companies and Legal Entities Listed on the Main Market Issued by the Qatar Financial Markets 
Authority’s (QFMA’s) Board pursuant to Decision No. (5) of 2016 as of 31 December 2019
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Given the circumstances of the engagement, in performing 
the procedures listed above we:

– made inquiries of management to obtain an 
understanding of the processes followed to identify 
the requirements of the QFMA law and relevant 
legislations, including the Code (the ‘Requirements’); 
the   procedures adopted by management to comply 
with these Requirements and the methodology 
adopted by management to assess compliance with 
these Requirements. This included analysing the key 
processes and controls for reporting compliance with 
the Requirements;

– considered the disclosures by comparing the contents 
of the Corporate Governance Report against the 
requirements of Article 4 of the Code;

– agreed the relevant contents of the Corporate 
Governance Report to the underlying records   
maintained by the legal and compliance department of 
the Company;

– performed limited substantive testing on a selective 
basis, when deemed necessary, to assess compliance 
with the Requirements, and observed evidences 
gathered by the Company’s management and assessed 
whether violations of the Requirements, if any, 
have been disclosed by the Board of Directors, in all 
material respects.

Our limited assurance procedures do not involve 
assessing the qualitative aspects or effectiveness of the 
procedures adopted by management to comply with the 
Requirements. Therefore, we do not provide any assurance 
as to whether the procedures adopted by management 
were functioning effectively to achieve the objectives of 
the QFMA’s law and relevant legislations, including the 
Code.

Our independence and quality control
In carrying out our work, we have complied with the 
independence and other ethical requirements of the 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by 
the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants, 
which is founded on fundamental principles of integrity, 
objectivity, professional competence and due care, 
confidentiality and professional behaviour and the ethical 
requirements that are relevant in Qatar. We have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements and the (IESBA) Code.

Our firm applies International Standard on Quality 
Control 1 and accordingly maintains a comprehensive 
system of quality control including documented policies 
and procedures regarding compliance with ethical 
requirements, professional standards and applicable legal 
and regulatory requirements.

Inherent limitations
Many of the procedures followed by entities to adopt 
governance and legal requirements depend on the 
personnel applying the procedure, their interpretation 
of the objective of such procedure, their assessment of 
whether the compliance procedure was implemented 
effectively, and in certain cases would not maintain audit 
trail. It is also noticeable that the design of compliance 
procedures would follow best practices that vary from one 
entity to another and from one country to another, which 
do not form a clear set of criteria to compare with.

Non-financial performance information is subject to more 
inherent limitations than financial information, given the 
characteristics of the Governance Report and the methods 
used for determining such information.

Other information
The Board of Directors are responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises the 
Corporate Governance Report (but does not include the 
Directors’ Report on compliance with QFMA’s law and 
relevant legislations including the Code’ presented in 
Sections 1 to 11 and 13 (the “Directors’ Statement”) which 
we obtained prior to the date of this assurance report. 

Our conclusion on the Board of Director’s Corporate 
Governance Report on compliance with applicable QFMA 
laws and relevant legislations including the Code does not 
cover the other information and we do not, and will not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our assurance engagement on the 
applicable sections of the Corporate Governance Report, 
our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the 
other information is materially inconsistent with the 
Corporate Governance report or our knowledge obtained 
in the engagement, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, 
on the other information that we obtained prior to the 
date of this report, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
When we read, if we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the 
matter to those charged with governance and the QFMA.

If, based on the work we have performed, on the other 
information that we obtained prior to the date of this 
report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
of this other information, we are required to report that 
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the complete Corporate Governance Report, 
if we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to 
those charged with governance and the QFMA.

Conclusion
Based on our limited assurance procedures described 
in this report, nothing has come to our attention that 
causes us to believe that the Board of Directors’ report 
on compliance with QFMA’s law and relevant legislations, 
including the Code, as presented in Board of Director’s 
Corporate Governance Report, do not present fairly, in all 
material respects, the Company’s compliance with the 
QFMA’s law and relevant legislations, including the Code as 
at 31 December 2019.

Emphasis of matter
We draw attention to the fact that this assurance report 
relates to parent company Qatari Investors Group Q.P.S.C 
on stand-alone basis only and not the Group as a whole. 
Our conclusion is not modified in this respect

Other matters - reporting on compliance with QFMA’s law 
and relevant legislations, including the Code
a) Article 28 states that the Board members, Senior 
Executive Management, all Insiders, their spouses and 
minor children must disclose any trading and transaction 
they carry out involving the Company’s shares and any 
other securities, and the Board shall adopt clear rules and 
procedures regulating trading of the Insiders in securities 
issued by the Company.

During the year, the Company did not maintain 
comprehensive documents to support the complete 
disclosure of trading and transactions involving the 
Company’s shares, and any other securities by the 
Company’s Senior Executive Management, insiders and 
their family (spouses and minor children included). 

However, the Company has put in place a monitoring 
process wherein the list of shareholders and movements 
are being reviewed monthly. Furthermore, an email is 
communicated from the Board Secretary to the Senior 
Executive Management to prompt them to proactively 
declare whether they own company shares. The text on 
this email considers the lack of response as a declaration 
of not owning shares in the company. The aforementioned 
mentoring mechanisms were coincided with the 
implementation of an approved Insider Trading policy to 
affirm compliance with the relevant article of the Code.

It is worth noting that after checking its shareholder 
listings on a monthly basis throughout 2019, no evidence 
was found of insider trading by Board members, Senior 
Executive Management, or other Insiders, their spouses or 
minor children.

Rödl & Partner – Qatar Branch
Certified Public Accountants

Magdy Aboelkhier
Member of Qatar Association of
Certified Public Accountant
License No. 321
QFMA Auditor License No. 120151

Doha – Qatar
February 2, 2020



page a n n u a l
r e p o r t

page
1918

To the 
Shareholders of Qatari Investors Group Q.P.S.C
Doha – State of Qatar

Report on the Directors’ assessment of the suitability of 
the design, implementation and operating effectiveness 
of internal controls over financial reporting of significant 
processes as of 31 December 2019 of Qatari Investors 
Group Q.P.S.C  hereinafter referred to as the “ Company” 
and its subsidiaries together referred as the “Group”  in 
connection with the Governance Code for Companies 
& Legal Entities Listed on the Main Market Issued by 
the Qatar Financial Markets Authority’s (QFMA’s) Board 
pursuant to Decision No. (5) of 2016.

In accordance with the requirements of Article 24 of 
the Governance Code for Companies & Legal Entities 
Listed on the Main Market Issued by the Qatar Financial 
Markets Authority (QFMA) Board pursuant to Decision 
No. (5) of 2016, we have carried out a reasonable 
assurance engagement over the Management’s Internal 
Control Statement on assessment of suitability of the 
design, implementation and operating effectiveness of 
the Group’s internal controls over financial reporting                                                                    
(Management Internal Control Statement) as of 31 
December 2019, based on the framework issued by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway 
Commission “COSO framework”.

Responsibilities of the directors and those charged with 
governance
The Board of Directors are responsible for implementing 
and maintaining effective internal control over financial 
reporting. This responsibility includes designing, 
implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant 
to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying 
appropriate policies, and making accounting estimates and 
judgements that are reasonable in the circumstances.

The Group’s assessment of its internal control system is 
presented by the Management to the Board of Directors in 
the form of the Management’s Internal Control Statement 
contained in Section 1 of the Corporate Governance Report, 
which includes:

–  the management’s assessment of the suitability of 
design, implementation and operating effectiveness of 
internal control framework over financial reporting;

– the description of the process and internal controls 
over financial reporting for the Significant Process 
of (general IT and application controls, entity 
level controls, revenues, receivables, inventory 
management, fixed assets, treasury and cash 
management, investment management, payroll, 
financial reporting and periodic closing of the financial 
records);

– the control objectives; including identifying the 
risks that threaten the achievement of the control 
objectives;

– designing and implementing controls to achieve the 
stated control objectives; and

– identification of control gaps and failures; how they 
are remediated; and procedures set to prevent such 
failures or to close control gaps.

The Group has assessed the design, implementation and 
operating effectiveness of its internal control system as at 
December 31, 2019, based on the criteria established in the 
Internal Control- Integrated Framework 2013 issued by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway 
Commission (“COSO framework”). These responsibilities 
include the design adequate internal financial controls 
that would ensure the orderly and efficient conduct of its 
business, including:

– adherence to the Group’s policies;

– the safeguarding of its assets;

– the prevention and detection of frauds and errors;

– the accuracy and completeness of the accounting 
records;

– the timely preparation of reliable financial information; 
and

– compliance with applicable laws and regulations, 
including the QFMA’s law and relevant legislations and 
the Governance Code for Companies & Legal Entities 
Listed on the Main Market issued by the QFMA’s Board 
pursuant to Decision No. (5) of 2016.

Independent Assurance Report to the Shareholders of Qatari Investors Group Q.P.S.C on the suitability of the 
design, implementation and operating effectiveness of internal controls over financial reporting of significant 
processes as of 31 December 2019 in connection with the Governance Code for Companies & Legal Entities 
Listed on the Main Market Issued by the Qatar Financial Markets Authority’s (QFMA’s) Board pursuant to 
Decision No. (5) of 2016

Responsibilities of the Assurance Practitioner
Express a reasonable assurance opinion on the fairness 
of the presentation of Management’s Internal Control 
Statement, based on the criteria established in COSO 
Framework, including its conclusion on the effectiveness 
of design, implementation and operating effectiveness 
of the Group’s internal controls over financial reporting 
of “Significant Processes” presented in Section 1 of the 
Corporate Governance Report to achieve the related 
control objectives stated in that description based on our 
assurance procedures.

Reporting on internal controls over financial reporting
We conducted our engagement in accordance with 
International Standard on Assurance Engagements

3000 (Revised) ‘Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits 
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information’ issued 
by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards 
Board (‘IAASB’). This standard requires that we plan and 
perform our procedures to obtain reasonable assurance 
on the Management’s Internal Control Statement over ’ 
assessment of suitability of the design, implementation 
and operating effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls 
over financial reporting of significant processes of( general 
IT and application controls, entity level controls revenues, 
receivables, inventory management, fixed assets, treasury 
and cash management, investment management, payroll, 
financial reporting and periodic closing of the financial 
records) in all material respects, to achieve the related 
control objectives stated in the description of the relevant 
processes by management, based on the COSO framework.

A process is considered significant if a misstatement 
due to fraud or error in the stream of transactions 
or financial statement amount would reasonably be 
expected to impact the decisions of the users of financial 
statements. For the purpose of this engagement, the 
processes that were determined as significant are: 
(general IT and application controls revenues, receivables, 
inventory management, fixed assets, treasury and cash 
management, investment management, payroll, financial 
reporting and periodic closing of the financial records).

An assurance engagement of this type also includes 
evaluating Board of Directors’ assessment of the suitability 
of the design, implementation and operating effectiveness 
of the controls in an organization involves performing 
procedures to obtain evidence about the suitability of 
design and operating effectiveness of the controls.  Our 
procedures on internal controls over financial reporting 
included:

– obtaining an understanding of internal controls over 
financial reporting for significant processes;

– assessing the risk that a material weakness exists; and 

– testing and evaluating the design, implementation and 
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the 
assessed risk. 

In carrying out our engagement, we obtained 
understanding of the following components of the control 
system:

1. Control Environment

2. Risk Assessment

3. Control Activities

4. Information and Communication

5. Monitoring

The procedures selected depend on our judgement, 
including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the suitability of design and operating 
effectiveness, whether due to fraud or error. Our 
procedures also included assessing the risks that the 
controls were not suitably designed or operating effectively 
to achieve the related control objectives stated in the 
Corporate Governance Report. Our procedures included 
testing the operating effectiveness of those controls that 
we consider necessary to provide reasonable assurance 
that the related control objectives stated in Section 1 of 
the Corporate Governance Report were achieved.

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
conclusion on the Management’s Internal Control 
Statement over their assessment of the suitability of 
design and operating effectiveness of the Group’s internal 
controls over financial reporting.

Our independence and quality control
In carrying out our work, we have complied with the 
independence and other ethical requirements of the 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by 
the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants, 
which is founded on fundamental principles of integrity, 
objectivity, professional competence and due care, 
confidentiality and professional behaviour and the ethical 
requirements that are relevant in Qatar. We have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements and the (IESBA) Code.
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Our firm applies International Standard on Quality 
Control 1 and accordingly maintains a comprehensive 
system of quality control including documented policies 
and procedures regarding compliance with ethical 
requirements, professional standards and applicable legal 
and regulatory requirements.

Meaning of internal controls over financial reporting
An entity’s internal control over financial reporting is 
a process designed to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards. An entity’s internal control over financial 
reporting includes those policies and procedures that:

1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in 
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the 
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the 
entity;

2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions 
are recorded as necessary to permit preparation 
of financial statements in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards, and that 
receipts and expenditures of the entity are being 
made only in accordance with authorizations of the 
management of the entity; and

3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention 
or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, 
or disposition of the entity’s assets that could have a 
material effect on the financial statements

Inherent limitations
Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial 
controls over financial reporting and compliance with 
relevant laws and regulations, including the possibility of 
collusion or improper management override of controls, 
material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur 
and not be detected. Therefore, internal controls over 
financial reporting may not prevent or detect all errors 
or omissions in processing or reporting transactions and 
consequently cannot provide absolute assurance that the 
control objectives will be met. Also, projections of any 
evaluation of the internal financial controls over financial 
reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that 
the internal financial control over financial reporting may 
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, 
or that the degree of compliance with the policies or 
procedures may deteriorate.

Furthermore, the controls activities designed, implemented 
and operated as of 31 December 2019 covered by our 
assurance report will not have retrospectively remedied 
any weaknesses or deficiencies that existed in relation 
to the internal controls over the financial reporting and 
compliance with applicable laws and regulations prior to 
the date those controls were placed in operation.

Other information
The Board of Directors are responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises the 
Corporate Governance Report but, does not include 
Management’s Internal Control Statement.

Our conclusion on the Management’s Internal Control 
Statement does not cover the other information and we do 
not, and will not express any form of assurance conclusion 
thereon.

If, based on the work we have performed, on the other 
information that we obtained prior to the date of this 
report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
of this other information, we are required to report that 
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the complete Corporate Governance Report, 
if we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to 
those charged with governance and the QFMA.

Conclusion
In our opinion the Management’s Internal Control 
Statement, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based 
on the criteria established in the COSO Framework, 
including its conclusion on the effectiveness of design, 
implementation and operating effectiveness of the 
Group’s Internal Controls over Financial Reporting as at 31 
December 2019.

Rödl & Partner – Qatar Branch
Certified Public Accountants

Magdy Aboelkhier
Member of Qatar Association of
Certified Public Accountant
License No. 321
QFMA Auditor License No. 120151

Doha – Qatar
February 2, 2020

1. MANAGEMENT REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH QFMA LAW 
AND RELEVANT LEGISLATIONS INCLUDING THE CODE.

 In accordance with the requirements of Article 4 of the 
Governance Code for Companies & Legal Entities Listed 
on the Main Market (the “Code”) issued by the Qatar 
Financial Markets Authority (“QFMA”) Board pursuant 
to Decision No. (5) Of 2016, the Board of Directors 
of Qatari Investors Group Q.P.S.C. has prepared the 
attached Corporate Governance Report 2019. 

 This report is the outcome of QIG’s continuous 
commitment towards the implementation of sound 
governance that embraces best practice guidelines and 
engrains concrete values into its internal governance 
policies. Such achievements, we believe, not only 
fulfil QIG’s compliance with the Governance Code for 
Companies & Legal Entities Listed on the Main Market 
(the “Code”) issued by the Qatar Financial Markets 
Authority (“QFMA”) Board pursuant to Decision No. (5) 
Of 2016, but also reflects QIG’s responsibilities towards 
its Shareholders and Stakeholders. 

 Responsibilities of the Board
 The Board of Directors is committed to implementing 

governance principles set out in the Code, which 
are: justice and equality among Shareholders and 
Stakeholders without discrimination regardless 
of their race, gender and religion. Transparent 
information and required disclosures are provided 
to QFMA, Shareholders and Stakeholders within 
the required timeframe and in accordance with the 
relevant laws and regulations. The principles also 
include upholding the values of corporate social 
responsibility and prevailing the public interest of 
the Company, Shareholders and Stakeholders over 
any personal interest.  The Company is guided by 
the aforementioned principles, as it endeavors to 
exercise its duties conscientiously and with integrity.  
In parallel, the Company also strives to project these 
values in its dealings with Shareholders, Stakeholders 
and eventually society. 

 Management’s assessment on compliance with 
QFMA’s relevant regulations including the Corporate 
Governance Code as at December 31, 2019.

 In accordance with Article 2 of the Code, we have 
carried out an assessment on its compliance with 
QFMA’s relevant regulations applicable to the Company 
including the Code. 

 Conclusion
 As a result of the assessment, the management 

concluded that there is a process in place to ensure 
the compliance with QFMA’s requirements as of 
December, 2019, with the exception of the following:

 • Article 28 states that the Board members, Senior 
Executive Management, all Insiders, their spouses 
and minor children must disclose any trading and 

transaction they carry out involving the Company’s 
shares and any other securities, and the Board shall 
adopt clear rules and procedures regulating trading 
of the Insiders in securities issued by the Company.

  During the year, the Company did not maintain 
comprehensive documents to support the complete 
disclosure of trading and transactions involving the 
Company’s shares, and any other securities by the 
Company’s Senior Executive Management, Insiders 
and their family (spouses and minor children 
included). However, the Company has put in place a 
monitoring process wherein the list of Shareholders 
and movements are being reviewed monthly. In 
addition, Senior Executives are prompted to declare 
their trading activities in the company’s shares. An 
Insider Trading Policy is also in place and steps are 
taken to ensure that all those to  applies understand 
its requirements.

  It is worth noting that after checking its shareholder 
listings on a monthly basis throughout 2019, no 
evidence was found of insider trading by Board 
members, Senior Executive Management, or other 
Insiders, their spouses or minor children.

 External auditors
 Rodl and Partner - Qatar Branch, the external audit firm 

of the Company, has issued a limited assurance report 
on the management assessment on compliance with 
the QFMA’s relevant regulations including the Code as 
of December 31, 2019. 

 Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial 
Reporting

 In accordance with the requirements of Article 4 of the 
Governance Code for Companies & Legal Entities Listed 
on the Main Market (the “Code”) Issued by the Qatar 
Financial Markets Authority (“QFMA”) Board pursuant 
to Decision No. (5) Of 2016, the Board of Directors of 
Qatari Investors Group Q.P.S.C. and its consolidated 
subsidiaries is responsible for establishing and 
maintaining adequate internal control over financial 
reporting (“ICOFR”). 

 The management of Qatari Investors Group and 
its consolidated subsidiaries is responsible for 
establishing and maintaining adequate internal control 
over financial reporting (ICOFR). Our internal control 
over financial reporting is a process designed under 
the supervision of our Chief Executive Officer and 
Chief Financial Officer to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and 
the preparation of the firm’s consolidated financial 
statements for external reporting purposes in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). ICOFR includes our disclosure controls 
and procedures designed to prevent misstatements. 
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 To determine whether a material weakness in internal 
controls over financial reporting exists as at 31 
December 2019, we have conducted an evaluation of 
the suitability of design, implementation and operating 
effectiveness of internal controls over financial 
reporting, based on the framework and the criteria 
established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework 
(2013), issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”).

 We have covered all the material business and 
operating companies in our assessment of internal 
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 
2019.

 Risks in Financial Reporting
 The main risks in financial reporting are that either 

financial statements do not present a true and fair 
view due to inadvertent or intentional errors (fraud) 
or the publication of financial statements is not done 
on a timely basis. These risks may reduce investor 
confidence or cause reputational damage and may 
have adverse consequences. A lack of fair presentation 
arises when one or more amounts in financial 
statement or disclosures contain misstatements 
(or omissions) that are material. Misstatements 
are deemed material if they could, individually or 
collectively, influence economic decisions that users 
make on the basis of the financial statements.

 To confine those risks of financial reporting, the 
Company has established ICOFR with the aim of 
providing reasonable but not absolute assurance 
against material misstatements and conducted 
an assessment of the suitability of design of the 
Company’s internal controls over financial reporting 
based on the framework established in Internal 
Control Integrated Framework (2013) issued by 
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission (COSO). COSO recommends the 
establishment of specific objectives to facilitate the 
design and evaluate adequacy of a control system. As 
a result, in establishing ICOFR, the management has 
adopted the following financial statements objectives: 

 The COSO Framework includes 17 basic principles, and 
5 components:

 • Control environment

 • Risk assessment

 • Control activities

 • Information and communication

 • Monitoring

 Controls to Minimize the Risk of Financial Reporting 
Misstatement

 The system of ICOFR consists of a large number of 
internal controls and procedures aimed at minimizing 
the risk of misstatement of the financial statements. 
Such controls are integrated into the operating process 
and include those which:

 • are ongoing or permanent in nature such as 
supervision within written policies and procedures 
or segregation of duties,

 • operate on a periodic basis such as those which are 
performed as part of the annual financial statement 
preparation process,

 • are preventative or detective in nature,

 • have a direct or indirect impact on the financial 
statements themselves. Controls which have an 
indirect effect on the financial statements include 
entity level controls and IT general controls such as 
system access and deployment controls whereas a 
control with a direct impact could be, for example, 
a reconciliation which directly supports a balance 
sheet line item,

 • feature automated and/or manual components. 
Automated controls are control functions embedded 
within system processes such as application-
enforced segregation of duty controls and interface 
checks over the completeness and accuracy of 
inputs. Manual internal controls are those operated 
by an individual or group of individuals such as 
authorization of transactions.

 Measuring Design and Operating Effectiveness of 
Internal Control

 The Group has undertaken a formal evaluation of the 
adequacy of the design of the system of ICOFR. This 
evaluation incorporates an assessment of the design of 
the control environment as well as individual controls, 
which make up the system of ICOFR taking into 
account: 

 Controls covering each of the 17 principles and 5 
components have been identified and documented.

 As a result, in establishing ICOFR, the management has 
adopted the following financial statement objectives: 

 • Existence/Occurrence – assets and liabilities exist 
and transactions have occurred.

 • Completeness – all transactions are recorded; 
account balances are included in the financial 
statements.

 • Valuation / Measurement – assets, liabilities and 
transactions are recorded in the financial reports at 
the appropriate amounts.

 • Rights, Obligations and Ownership – rights and 
obligations are appropriately recorded as assets and 
liabilities.

 • Presentation and Disclosures – classification, 
disclosure and presentation of financial reporting is 
appropriate.

 However, any internal control system, including ICOFR, 
no matter how well conceived and operated, can 
provide only reasonable, but not absolute assurance 
that the objectives of that control system are met. As 
such, disclosure controls and procedures or systems 
for ICOFR may not prevent all errors and fraud. Further, 
the design of a control system must reflect the fact 
that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of 
controls must be considered relative to their costs. 

 Organization of the Internal Control System

 Functions Involved in the System of Internal Control 
over Financial Reporting

 Controls within the system of ICOFR are performed by 
all business functions and infrastructure functions with 
an involvement in reviewing the reliability of the books 
and records that underlie the financial statements. As 
a result, the operation of ICOFR involves staff based in 
various functions across the organization.

 The processes that were determined as significant are: 
(general IT and application controls revenues, entity 
level controls, receivables, inventory management, 
fixed assets, treasury and cash management, 
investment management, payroll, financial reporting 
and periodic closing of the financial records).

 In determining the above processes, the management 
exercised professional judgement and considered the 
amount of balances and transactions, that if materially 
misstated would influence economic decisions that 
users make on the basis of the financial statements.

 • The risk of misstatement of the financial statement 
line items, considering such factors as materiality 
and the susceptibility of the particular financial 
statement item to misstatement. 

 • The susceptibility of identified controls to 
failure, considering such factors as the degree of 
automation, complexity, and risk of management 
override, competence of personnel and the level of 
judgment required. 

 These factors, in aggregate, determine the nature 
and extent of evidence that management requires in 
order to be able to assess whether or not the design 
of the system of ICOFR is effective. The evidence 
itself is generated from procedures integrated within 
the daily responsibilities of staff or from procedures 
implemented specifically for purposes of the ICOFR 
evaluation. Information from other sources also form 
an important component of the evaluation since such 
evidence either may bring additional control issues 
to the attention of management or may corroborate 
findings. 

 Conclusion
 Management is of the opinion that as a result of the 

Design, Implementation and Operating Effectiveness 
testing performed and the remedial actions taken by 
management, that there are no Significant Deficiencies 
in ICOFR, that could have resulted in material 
weaknesses in ICOFR and that ICOFR is appropriately 
designed, implemented and operating effectively as of 
December 31, 2019. 

 External Auditors
 Rodl & Partner – Qatar branch external auditors of 

the Group, as issued a reasonable assurance report 
on the management’s assessment of suitability of 
design of internal controls over financial reporting as 
of 31 December 2019 in accordance with International 
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) 
‘Assurance Engagements other than Audits or Reviews 
of Historical Financial Information’ issues by the 
International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board 
(‘IAASB’).

 Raja Assili Hany Moqbel Alex Aclimandos
 Chief Executive Officer Legal Counsel Chief Financial Officer
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2. VALUES AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PHILOSOPHY
 QIG’s Corporate Governance Report forms the basis for 

a transparent business model with clear segregation 
of roles, responsibilities and accountabilities between 
shareholders, the Board of Directors, Executive 
Management and the Organization.

 QIG has prepared this Corporate Governance Report 
in line with the Governance Code for Companies & 
Legal Entities listed on the Main Market pursuant to 
Decision No. (5) For the year 2016 (the QFMA Corporate 
Governance Code), issued by Qatar Financial Markets 
Authority (QFMA).

 QIG Corporate Governance covers all the topics, which 
are necessary to ensure that the divisions of roles 
between the Board and the Company’s administration 
are regulated in a way that strengthens confidence 
among shareholders, employees, capital markets 
and any other related parties to achieve control and 
compliance, safeguarding shareholders’ rights and 
sustainable value creation over time.

 During the year, QIG strengthened its Corporate 
Governance framework in compliance with the 
requirements of governance rules set by QFMA 
through: 

 1. Updating and development of governance policies 
and procedures guides. 

 2. Assessment and strengthening of the Board’s 
committees.

 3. Implementation of best practices (such as 
establishing the Corporate Governance Committee)

3. THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

	 3.1	 Role	and	Responsibilities	of	the	Board
  The primary role of the Board of Directors is to 

provide leadership to the Company, within a 
framework of prudent and effective controls, 
enabling risks to be assessed and managed. 
This role is guided by the Articles of Association 
of the Company and its relevant by-laws, the 
Commercial Companies Law No. (11) For 2015 and 
QFMA Corporate Governance Code for Companies 
in particular articles (8) and (9).

  The responsibilities of the Board include, but are 
not limited to the following: 

  • Approving the Company’s strategic plan and its 
main objectives;

   – setting the Company’s comprehensive 
strategy, key business plans and risk 
management policy;

   – determining the Company’s most appropriate 
capital structure, its strategies and financial 
objectives and approving its annual budgets;

   – supervising the Company’s main capital 
expenses, acquisition and assets disposal;

   – setting the Company performance objectives 
and monitoring their implementation;

   – reviewing and approving the Company’s 
organizational structures on periodic basis;

   – approving the procedure manuals needed 
to implement the Company strategy and 
objectives;

   – approving the Company’s annual training 
plan programs;

  • setting the Company’s rules and procedures 
related to internal controls which include as 
follows:

   – developing a policy to regulate conflicts 
of interest and remedy any possible cases 
of conflict by the Board Members, the 
Executive Management, Stakeholders and 
Shareholders;

   – developing a full disclosure system in order 
to achieve transparency and to prevent 
conflict of interest and using Insider 
Information;

   – overseeing the Company’s financial and 
accounting integrity;

   – monitoring the implementation of the 
Company’s control systems related to risk 
management;

   – annual review of the Company’s internal 
control system effectiveness;

  • drafting the Company Governance Code which 
sets the general governance principles followed 
by the Company;

  • setting forth specific and explicit standards and 
procedures related to the Board membership;

  • developing a Stakeholders policy;

  • setting policies and procedures to ensure 
the Company’s compliance with the laws 
and regulations and especially the required 
disclosure to the Shareholders and Stakeholders;

  • inviting all Shareholders to attend the general 
assembly meeting;

  • approving the nominations or appointment of 
the Executive Management;

  • adopting a succession planning policy 
concerning Executive Management;

  • setting a remuneration policy that defines 
the basis and methodology for granting 
remuneration to the Board Members, the 
Executive Management and the Company’s 
Employees;

  • developing a Related Parties policy and 
presenting it to the general assembly in order 
to obtain the Shareholders’ approval; and,

  • setting criteria and standards in order to 
evaluate the Board Members and Executive 
Management performance;

  For more information, please refer to the QIG’s 
Board Charter, published on the Company’s 
website.

	 3.2	 Board	Members	Composition
  Based on the Company’s Board Charter and in compliance with the Company’s Articles of Association (along with 

the QFMA’s Corporate Governance Code, the majority of the Board Members shall be Non-Executive), at least one 
third among all Board Members shall be independent.

  The Board members are appointed for a renewable term of three years.

The table below shows the current composition of the QIG Board of Directors as of 31 December 2019:

Other Board Memberships Held in Listed Companies

Note: *AGM to review and discuss the Financial Statement ended on 31 December 2019 in accordance with Article No. (96) of the Companies Law No. (11) 
of 2015.

Director Name Position % of Direct 
Ownership

Date of 
Election/
Appointment

% of Indirect 
Ownership

Re-
presenting

Member 
Classification

Board Term Board 
Expiry 
Term

Other Board 
Memberships 
Held in Listed 
Companies

H.E. Mr. Abdulla 
Nasser Al 
Misnad

Chairman 0.08% 7/11/2016 37.55% – Executive 3 years *February 
2020

– Vodafone
– Al Khaliji 
Bank

H.E. Sheikh 
Hamad Bin Faisal 
Al Thani

Vice-Chairman 0% 7/11/2016 0.70% Qatari 
Trading 
Agencies 
Company

Independent 3 years *February 
2020

– Al Khaliji 
Bank
– Vodafone
– Qatar 
Insurance 
Company

Dr. Yarob Rayyan Member 0% 7/11/2016 0% N/A Independent 3 years *February 
2020

None

Dr. Fadi Makki Member 0% 7/11/2016 0% N/A Independent 3 years *February 
2020

None

Mr. Omar Al 
Hassan

Representative 
of the 
Company’s 
employees

0% N/A 0% N/A Executive To continue 
the term of 
the previous 
member

None

Director Name Company Date of Election/
Appointment

Position Member 
Classification

Number of Shares 
Held Directly or 
Indirectly 

Party Represented

H.E. Mr. Abdulla 
Nasser Al Misnad

Vodafone 25 July 2016 Chairman Non-Executive, 
Independent

None All Shareholders

Al Khaliji Bank Joined the Board 
since 2007 and 
re-elected on 27 
February 2018

Vice-Chairman Non-Executive, 
Non-Independent

1,056,400 Own Companies or 
Family Members

H.E. Sheikh Hamad 
Bin Faisal Al Thani

Al Khaliji Bank Joined the Board 
since 2009 and 
re-appointed on 27 
February 2018

Chairman and 
Managing 
Director

Executive 3,108,800 Own Companies or 
Family Members

Vodafone 29 March 2018 Member Non-Executive None Vodafone/
Qatar Foundation

Qatar Insurance 
Company

Elected on 19 
February 2017

Member Non-Independent, 
Non-Executive

21,445,370 In his personal capacity

Dr. Yarob Rayyan None N/A N/A N/A None N/A

Dr. Fadi Makki None N/A N/A N/A None N/A

Mr. Omar Al Hassan None None None None None None
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Board Meeting No. Date of Meeting Attendees Absentee(s) Voting by Proxy Date of Sending 
the Agenda

79 30/01/2019 5 None None 01/06/2019

80 03/03/2019 5 None None 25/02/2019

81 23/04/2019 5 None None 26/03/2019

82 22/07/2019 4 None None 25/06/2019

83 27/10/2019 5 None None 22/09/2019

84 23/12/2019 5 None None 08/12/2019

	 3.4	 Remuneration	of	the	Board
  The remuneration allocated to the Board Members 

does not exceed five percent (5%) of the 
Company’s net profit, in accordance with Article 
46 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Article 
119 of the Companies Law and Article 18 of the 
QFMA Corporate Governance Code.

  As required by the QFMA Corporate Governance 
Code, the remuneration of the Board Members 
will be disclosed during the next Annual General 
Assembly Meeting. 

  QIG has established a Remuneration Policy, which 
states the procedure and criteria set to determine 
the Board Members’ remuneration.

	 3.5	 Board	Qualification
  Based on the Company’s Board Charter and 

in compliance with the applicable QFMA’s 
Governance Code, the Board is composed 
of qualified experts, with a track-record of 
achievement in one or more of the Company’s 
business activities. Board members bring a blend 
of experience from their careers and education in 
a variety of sectors locally and internationally. 

	 3.6	 Chairman	of	the	Board
  H.E. Abdulla Nasser Al Misnad represents the 

Company as the Chairman of QIG. 

  The Chairman leads the Board and drives its 
contribution. The Chairman represents the 
Company and is primarily responsible for ensuring 
the proper management of the Company in an 
efficient and productive manner in the interest 
of the Company, partners, Shareholders and 
Stakeholders. 

  The Chairman seeks to build an effective 
Board and ensures that at all times it includes 
appropriate skills, experience and diversity. The 
Chairman’s responsibilities are but not limited to:

  • Encouraging all Board Members to participate 
and engage in Board affairs while ensuring that 
the Board is working in the best interests of 
the Company.

  • Making available for Board Members relevant 
data, information, documents and records 
of the Company, and of the Board and its 
committees.

  • Creating effective communication channels with 
Shareholders and making their opinions heard 
to the Board.

  • Allowing effective participation of the Non-
Executive Board Members in particular and 
promoting constructive relations between 
Executive and Non- Executive Board Members. 

  • Ensuring that there is an appropriate 
delegation of authority to the Executive 
Management.

  • Keeping the Board Members regularly informed 
about the implementation of the provisions 
of this Code, or alternatively, The Chairman 
may empower the Audit Committee or other 
committees to do so.

  • Approving applicable statements, data or 
information prepared by the Board or the 
Executive Management prior to disclosure.

  An official spokesperson shall be appointed by 
the Board in accordance with article 12(8) of 
QFMA Corporate Governance Code.

	 3.7	 Secretary	of	the	Board
  The Company’s Board Secretary plays an 

important role in supporting the effectiveness 
of the Board and facilitating communication and 
coordination with its committees.

  The Board Secretary assists the Board of Directors 
in fulfilling their obligations and responsibilities. 

  The Board Secretary also facilitates the 
communication between the Board Members and 
the Executive Management.

  Mr. Hany Moqbel is the Secretary of the Board, a 
position he has held since June 2016. He is also 
the Legal Counsel of the Company.

  As required by QFMA Corporate Governance Code, 
the Board Secretary keeps a record of Directors’ 
declarations of positions held to ensure that 
being Board members does contravene rules on 
prohibited or combined positions. He also keeps 
records of the Board Members written annual 
non-conflict of interest declaration.

  A Board Secretary Terms of Reference has 
been established to comply with the QFMA 
Corporate Governance Code and other regulatory 
requirements.

	 3.8	 Prohibition	of	Combining	Positions
  The Company ensures that the Chairman and the 

rest of the Board Members are in compliance with 
article 7 of the QFMA Corporate Governance Code 
and its exceptions.

  The Company also ensures compliance with 
the requirements related to the prohibition of 
combining the Chairman’s position with any other 
executive positions in the Company. Moreover, 
QIG’s Chairman is not a member of any Board 
committees as required by the QFMA Corporate 
Governance Code.

  As stated in the Board Secretary section, the 
Chairman and the Board Members, on an 
annual basis, provide an acknowledgment form 
confirming the non-combination of prohibited 
positions.

	 3.9	 Board	Committees
  To increase the effectiveness of the Board’s 

control over the Company’s various activities and 
the risks to which it is exposed in an independent 
and professional manner, the Board has 
established committees, which have delegated 
specific responsibilities and authorities to act on 
its behalf. In line with its commitment to sound 
Corporate Governance principles, the committees 
instituted by the Board meet the minimum 
requirements set by applicable corporate 
governance regulations.

  The Board has formed two Committees: 
  1. Audit Committee
  2. Remuneration and Nomination Committee

  Each Committee has detailed and specific roles, 
duties and authorities as determined by the 
Board and specified in each Committee’s Terms 
of Reference which are duly approved by the 
Board. The Board Committees’ Terms of Reference 
have been developed taking into consideration 
regulatory requirements including Article 18 of 
Governance Code. In compliance with Article 19 of 
QFMA Governance Code, it is neither permitted to 
chair more than one Board Committee or combine 
the chairs of both the Audit Committee and the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

	 3.10	Audit	Committee
  The Audit Committee was established in 

accordance with Article 18 of the QFMA Corporate 
Governance Code. QIG’s Audit Committee is chaired 
by an Independent Board Member and includes 
the majority of the independent members.

  The responsibilities of the Audit Committee 
include, but are not limited to:

  • Setting the procedures for assessing and 
selecting the External Auditors and ensuring 
their independence while performing their 
duties;

  • Overseeing the Company’s internal controls, 
monitoring the External Auditors’ functions, 
coordinating with the External Auditors, and 
ensuring their compliance in implementing the 
international standards;

  • Overseeing and reviewing the accuracy and 
validity of financial statements and the yearly 
and quarterly reports;

  • Considering, reviewing and following up with 
the External Auditors’ reports and notes on the 
Company’s financial statements;

  • Reviewing the financial, internal control and 
risk management systems;

  • Developing and regularly reviewing the 
Company’s policies on risk management, taking 
into account the Company’s business, market 
changes, investment trends and expansion 
plans of the Company;

  • Implementing the assignments of the Board 
regarding the Company’s internal controls;

  • Coordinating discussions between the External 
Auditor and the Executive Management 
regarding risk audits; especially the 
appropriateness of accounting policies and 
estimates, and submitting them to the Board 
for inclusion in the annual report; and

  • Coordinating the functions of the Board of 
Directors, the Executive Management and the 
Internal Control of the Company.

	 3.3	 Meetings	of	the	Board	of	Directors
  In accordance with Article 14 of the QFMA Corporate Governance Code, the Company holds the required number of 

meetings. 

  The Board meetings are structured in a way that allows open discussions and facilitates the participation of all 
members. 

  All decisions are taken by the votes of the majority of attendees and their representatives.

  Any member who is unable to attend a particular meeting will be provided with the same information as those 
present at the meeting in order to facilitate informed decision making process. The Board Members may vote by 
proxy.
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The Audit Committee meetings and its members’ attendance are presented below:

The NRC is composed of the following members for the year ended 31 December 2019:

Name Position Board Member Type

Dr. Yarob Rayyan Member of the BOD & Chairman of the NRC  Independent

Dr. Fadi Makki Member of the BOD & NRC member Independent

Mr. Omar Saeed Saleh Al Hassan Member of the BOD & NRC member Representative of the 
Company’s Employees

Mr. Akram Elamin Chief Administration Officer & NRC member None 

Audit Meeting No. Date of the Meeting No. of the Attendees No. of Absentees Vote by Proxy

21/2019 29/01/2019 3 0 –

22/2019 17/04/2019 2 1 –

23/2019 21/07/2019 3 0 –

24/2019 23/10/2019 3 0 –

25/2019 11/12/2019 3 0 –

26/2019 25/12/2019 3 0 –

  During the year, QIG’s Audit Committee convened a total of six (6) meetings. QIG’s Audit Committee has adopted a 
formal charter which is published and available on QIG’s website: http://www.qatariinvestors.com/English/media-
center/ reports/

  The Audit Committee is composed of the following members:

Name Position Board Member Type

H.E. Sheikh Hamad Bin Faisal Al Thani Member of the BOD & Chairman of the 
Board Audit Committee

Independent

Dr. Yarob Rayyan Member of the BoD & Member of the 
Board Audit Committee

Independent 

Dr. Fadi Makki Member of the BoD & Member of the 
Board Audit Committee

Independent 

	 3.11	Nomination	and	Remuneration	Committee
  Pursuant to Article 19 of the QFMA Corporate 

Governance Code, the Nomination Committee 
and the Remuneration Committee have 
been combined into one single committee. 
The responsibilities of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee (“NRC”) include, but are 
not limited to:  

  • Assisting the Board in the preparation of a 
remuneration policy which identifies and sets 
the remuneration framework as well as the 
incentives of the Chairman of the Board, the 
Board Members, the Executive Management 
and the employees. 

  • Ensuring that the remuneration allocated to the 
Board Members does not exceed five percent 
(5%) of the Company’s net profit, in accordance 
with Article 46 of the Company’s articles of 
association, Article 119 of the Companies 
Law and Article 18 of the QFMA Corporate 
Governance Code.

  • Taking responsibility for:

   a) assisting the Board in the preparation 
and amendment (when required) of the 
nomination policy. 

   b) receiving candidacy requests for the Board 
membership and identifying and nominating 
the candidates to fill Board vacancies.  This 
will be submitted for approval to the general 
assembly. 

4. EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

	 4.1	 Chief	Executive	Officer
  The Chairman and the CEO are separate persons. 

The roles of the Chairman of the Board and 
the CEO are deliberately kept distinct through 
a clear division of responsibilities to ensure 
an appropriate balance of power, increased 
accountability and greater capacity of the Board 
for independent decision-making. 

  The CEO is responsible for making strategic 
proposals to the Board and implementing the 
Company’s strategies and policies as well as the 
Board’s decisions. He assumes the executive 
responsibility for the day-to-day management of 
the Company, with the support of the Executive 
Management. This position is held by Mr. Raja 
Victor Assili. 

	 4.2	 Profile	of	the	Key	Executive	Management	
Members

  The key personnel of QIG’s Executive Management 
are: 

  Chief Business Development Officer (CBDO): 
The CBDO is responsible for seeking business 
development opportunities internally and 
externally. He also oversees their implementation 
and monitors their effectiveness to generate long-
term shareholder value through the realization 
of sustainable growth and profitability for QIG 
business ventures. This position is held by Mr. 
Samir Hamaidi. 

  Chief Financial Officer (CFO): The CFO defines and 
directs the financial strategy, policy and reporting 
frameworks for QIG. He also oversees financial 
accounting and costing functions with the aim 
of shareholder value and optimal utilization of 
financial resources. In addition, the CFO, ensures 
the business is commercially secure/compliant 
and support the achievement of the Company’s 
overall strategic objectives. The position of CFO is 
held by Mr. Alex Aclimandos. 

  Legal Counsel: The Legal Counsel is responsible 
for mitigating and eliminating legal risks. He also 
resolves related problems and disputes, and 
provides ongoing legal assistance to department 
heads and the business, while adhering to 
applicable laws, regulations and internal policies. 
Mr. Hany Moqbel holds that position.

   c) ensuring that the nomination criteria 
includes the skills, availability, experience as 
well as technical and academic qualifications 
and personality profile as required by QFMA;

   d) Nomination of Executive Management.

  • Developing a succession planning policy 
and making recommendations to the Board 
regarding plans for the succession of directors 
and Executive Management, taking into 
consideration the Company’s challenges and 
opportunities, and the skills and expertise that 
will be needed. This policy shall be reviewed 
on a regular basis.

  • Evaluating the performance evaluation of the 
Board and its committees and subsequently 
reporting to the Board.

  In fulfilment of its responsibilities, the NRC 
convened twice during 2019 fiscal year. During 
the first meeting, held in February 2019, the 
committee approved the proposal for award of 
2018 bonuses, and requested that the Executive 
Management to initiate a review of all applicable 
internal policies to ensure compliance. The NRC’s 
second meeting took place in December 2019 
whereby, the committee conducted an extensive 
review of all relevant polices, and took the 
collective decision to endorse them, and refer 
them for Board of Directors approval. Furthermore, 
during the latter meeting, the NRC also finalized 
its annual report and performance review and 
referred the same to the Board of Directors.

  Chief Administration Officer (CAO): CAO leads, 
directs and manages the HR & Administration and 
IT functions for QIG. He also ensures the effective 
development and implementation of strategies, 
processes, policies, procedures and services in 
order to support the achievement of business 
objectives in line with the vision and mission of 
the organization. Mr. Akram Elamin holds this 
position. 

  Chief Audit Executive (CAE): The Company’s Chief 
Audit Executive is responsible for assisting the 
Board and/or its Audit Committee discharge 
its corporate governance responsibilities by 
integrating audit services to provide them with 
assurance as to the adequacy and effectiveness 
of the system of internal control and risk 
management and governance process throughout 
the company. In this regard, the chief audit 
executive will inform them as to the effectiveness 
and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial 
reporting, and compliance with applicable laws 
and regulations.

  The CAE establishes a risk based audit plans 
to carry out the responsibilities of the internal 
audit activity.  The work includes directing a 
comprehensive audit program that provides 
assurance and consulting services designed to 
add value and improve the organization’s risk 
management, control, and governance processes. 
Mr. Mohammad Al Matari holds this position. 

  The Executive Committee:  An executive 
committee, composed of the above individuals, 
meets generally on a weekly basis to address 
impending matters, take preemptive actions, 
monitor financial performance, and assess 
progress on key projects.  The Executive 
Committee is chaired by the CEO

  Senior Executive Management’s Remuneration: 
  The total remuneration for the Senior Executive 

Management during 2019 was QAR 4,759,374/-. 

  Key Executive Management Shareholding: 
  Key Executive Managers do not hold shares in 

QIG.
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  The Audit Department is responsible for the 
following specific functions, including but not 
limited to: 

  • reviewing and monitoring control procedures 
related to financial affairs, investments and 
risk management; 

  • reviewing the impact of risk factors on 
the Company and the effectiveness and 
appropriateness of the systems established 
within the Company in facing any drastic and/ 
or unexpected changes in the market; 

  • assessing any risk faced by QIG or any 
potential risk that it might face; and 

  • addressing any suggestion and 
recommendation in order to mitigate such 
risks. 

	 5.4	 External	Audit
  In accordance with Companies Law and QFMA 

regulations, the General Assembly of QIG appoints 
an external auditor upon the recommendation 
of the Audit Committee to the Board. Based on 
the Board of Directors’ recommendations, Rodl & 
Partners were appointed as the External Auditor 
during QIG’s Extra Ordinary and Ordinary Annual 
General Assembly Meeting held on 20 February 
2019. 

  The External Auditor is appointed on a rolling one-
year basis, renewable for a similar period up to a 
maximum of five consecutive years. 

  The external auditor appointed shall be registered 
on QFMA’s list of External Auditor and must 
comply with the highest professional standards. 
The External Auditor shall be completely 
independent from the Company and its Board 
members and shall not have any conflicts of 
interest in his/her relation to the Company.

  The external auditor shall submit to the General 
Assembly the external audit report.

  QIG’s External Auditors play a fundamental role 
in the Company. Hence, the External Auditors 
provide reasonable assurance that the financial 
statements fairly represent the financial position 
and performance of the Company. To ensure 
the above, the External Auditors perform their 
audits independent of the Company. This 
provides confidence in the Company’s accounting 
information.

  The External Auditors provide the Board of 
Directors members with information related to 
any risk to which QIG is exposed to and also 
about any identified violation. In case of any 
violation, they will immediately notify the relevant 
authorities such as QFMA.

6. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
 The Company is fully committed to conducting 

business with fairness and integrity in order to ensure 
that the interests of its Shareholders and Stakeholders 
are served and protected in a sound manner.  QIG 
recognizes the importance of maintaining high levels 
of confidence amongst all its Shareholders.  The 
Company exercises best efforts to run its business with 
respect, integrity and accountability.

 QIG monitors potential conflicts of interest at 
transactional and corporate levels. The Company also 
promotes awareness amongst its employees and 
Stakeholders to avoid conflicts of interest situations 
arising in the first place.  This effort is transversal 
across departments and the Company’s subsidiaries.  
Procedures are in place to deal with conflicts of 
interests in a fair and transparent manner.

 The Company abides by the rules established by 
QFMA by the Laws and Regulations that govern the 
Company’s business, regarding situations that could 
result in a conflict of interest.  The Company operates 
a Conflict of Interest policy which is reviewed as 
necessary to address potential gaps.

7. PROTECTION OF SHAREHOLDERS
 The Fair and equal treatment of Shareholders is one of 

the key principles of effective corporate governance. 
The Company treats this as an overarching priority and 
endeavors to deal with its Shareholders with a high 
level of integrity, transparency and equality.

 One of the Company’s primary objectives is to increase 
Shareholders’ value through prudent and sustainable 
strategies.  The Company understands that sound 
corporate governance adds value across its activities 
and relationships with Stakeholders. Maintaining the 
confidence and of Shareholders and investors is a 
cornerstone in all our activities.

 Board Members and the Executive Management 
consider in their collective responsibility to apply 
sound governance principals in general as well as 
adherence to the principle of equal and equitable 
treatment of Shareholders.

 The Protection of Shareholders policy has been 
established in compliance with the QFMA Corporate 
Governance Code, the Company’s Articles of 
Association and the related laws and regulations.  It 
is QIG aspiration to go beyond the standards set by 
regulations.

5. INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM AND RISK MANAGEMENT

	 5.1	 Internal	Control	System
  QIG’s Board has set the Entity level objectives that 

align with the Entity’s vision, mission & strategies. 
In pursuit of these objectives, the Organization 
encounters events and circumstances which may 
threaten the achievement of these company 
objectives. To mitigate these risks, an effective 
system of internal control has been designed and 
implemented.

  To design an effective and efficient system of 
internal control, the QIG Board adopted the COSO’s 
Internal Control Framework. The adopted COSO 
framework has been integrated with the IIA’s 
recommended Three Lines of Defense model to 
assign the responsibility for the duties outlined in 
the framework. Using the three Lines of Defense 
model, the duties and responsibilities related to 
risk and control is assigned to the following three 
groups in QIG:

  i. 1st Line of Defense – Operational Management:
   QIG’s operational management is assigned 

with the primary ownership of risks and the 
methods used to manage those risks. 

  ii. 2nd Line of Defense – Internal monitoring and 
oversight function(s):

   The internal monitoring and oversight 
function(s) at QIG include, but are not 
limited to, the Executive Committee, 
Corporate Governance Committee, Supply 
Chain Committee, Strategic and Investment 
Committee, independent functional heads, etc. 
The risk management at QIG is per department, 
wherein the various internal monitoring and 
oversight functions ensure that controls and 
risk management processes are operating as 
intended. 

  iii. 3rd Line of Defense – Internal Audit:
   Internal audit provides independent assurance 

about the effectiveness of risk management 
and control to the Board and Executive 
Management.

	 5.2	 Risk	Management
  Risk management is central to the strategic 

management of QIG. It provides a systematic 
process for identifying risks attaching to new 
and current business activities. QIG has adopted 
COSO ERM Integrated Framework to meet the 
Company’s objectives with regards to Risk 
Management. In line with COSO ERM Framework, 
a risk management policy was developed and 
approved by the QIG Board.

  Each risk owner maintains a risk register which 
identifies the material risks facing the Group 
and the internal controls in place to manage 

or mitigate those risks. Risk owners review 
and update the risk registers regularly.  The 
risk register is annually reviewed by the Audit 
Committee and the Board.  The Executive 
Management and Internal Audit Department also 
review the approach of identifying and assessing 
risks and internal controls in the risk register.

  At QIG, the risk management follows a bottom-
up approach, i.e. every manager/risk owner are 
responsible for identifying, compiling, reporting 
and communicating risks on their respective 
function(s), which are consolidated, assessed and 
remedied at the group level.  Risk management 
is everyone’s responsibility, from the Board and 
CEO to the individual employees within each 
department/division. Every risk owner in QIG 
identifies, analyzes, evaluates, accepts, measures 
and controls all financial and non-financial 
risks that may have a negative impact on the 
performance and reputation of the Company.  
The risk management function in QIG also 
ensures that the risk policies, procedures and 
methodologies are consistently applied to address 
the various risks in particular investment risks, 
market risks, credit risks and liquidity risks.

  Furthermore, the Board of Directors/Committee 
and Executive Management team are involved 
in the establishment of various risk process and 
provide the periodic oversight and guidance 
for the risk management function.  The risk 
management processes are subject to additional 
scrutiny by internal Audit Department with 
periodic reporting to the Board.

	 5.3	 Internal	Audit
  The Internal audit function is an integral part 

of the control environment of QIG. It derives its 
delegated authority and mandates from its charter 
that is approved by the Board Audit Committee. It 
reports functionally to the Audit Committee and 
administratively to the Chief Executive Officer.

  QIG’s Internal Audit Department is an independent 
department that provides objective assurance and 
consulting activities designed to add value and 
improve the company’s operations. It helps the 
company accomplish its objectives by bringing a 
risk based systematic and disciplined approach 
to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk 
management, control and governance processes. 
In this regard, the Audit Department conducts 
regular assessments and provides objective and 
independent assurance and consulting services.

  During the year 2018, QIG internal audit 
department received the highest rating of 
“Generally Conforms” in the external quality 
assessment of internal audit department by PWC.
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8. STAKEHOLDERS RIGHTS
 The Company works tirelessly to be recognized as a 

trustworthy business partner acting in line with its 
core values and in compliance with the relevant laws 
and regulations.

 The Company is committed to conducting business 
in a responsible and transparent manner, protecting 
the rights of all Stakeholders, creating value and 
sustainability through sound practices.

 The Company protects Stakeholders’ rights by ensuring 
that:

 • All Stakeholders are treated fairly without any 
discrimination;

 • Stakeholders are granted access to information 
and data related to their activities on a timely and 
regular basis;

 • Stakeholders are protected in accordance with all 
relevant laws and regulations;

 • Stakeholders’ concerns are addressed in a timely 
manner.

 QIG has established a Whistle-blowing Policy to 
design and create an awareness of any incidents that 
need to be conveyed anonymously to the Executive 
Management. The Policy aims to protect the Company, 
its Shareholders and Stakeholders.

 The aforementioned protection includes but is not 
limited to the right of any employee to disclose any 
malpractice within the Company such as misuse or 
inappropriate use of QIG’s funds, resources and/or any 
criminal offenses without fear of retribution. 

9. INVESTOR RELATIONS
 QIG values its Shareholders and recognizes the 

importance of meaningful and timely information 
disclosure.

 The Company’s Investor Relations Officer is responsible 
for maintaining investor confidence in the company 
through clear and consistent communications between 
management, shareholders and the investment 
community. The Investor Relations Officer coordinates 
shareholder meetings and the release of information, 
and manages communications in the event of a crisis. 
The Board of Directors has mandated a best practices 
approach at all times.

 The company recognizes that its Shareholder base 
is diverse and therefore expectations may vary. 
Quantitative and qualitative information is released 
throughout the calendar year, in compliance with 
regulations, and beyond. Quarterly earnings call with 
the company’s Executive Management are scheduled 
to provide updates about the group’s performance and 
address questions. The Annual General Meeting is also 
a valuable opportunity for Stakeholders to meet the 
Board of Directors and Executive Management, listen to 
the Board of Directors’ review of the group’s activities, 
learn about development plans, and put forward 
questions.

 Current and historical information, including but not 
limited to news releases, financial results and investor 
presentations are available on the company’s website 
www.qatariinvestors.com / Investor Relations. 

 QIG’s Investor Relations Office invites and welcomes 
feedback from Shareholders and the investment 
community. For any queries, please send an email to 
d.saliba@qatariinvestors.com

10. GENERAL ASSEMBLY MEETINGS
 QIG’s Shareholders gathered at an extraordinary 

and ordinary general assembly meeting held on 
Wednesday, 20 February 2019. This meeting was held 
under the supervision of the Ministry of Economy 
and Industry’s representatives and in the presence 
of QIG’s External Auditors, Deloitte. This meeting was 
held in accordance with the requirements of the QFMA 
Corporate Governance Code and the Companies Law.  
During the meeting, the Board of Directors presented 
to the Shareholders the 2018 Annual Report, which 
contained the Company’s 2018 performance as well as 
the business strategy for the upcoming year.

11. EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL ASSEMBLY MEETING
 QIG’s Shareholders gathered at an extraordinary 

general assembly meeting on Wednesday, 30 June 
2019. This meeting was held in accordance with the 
requirements of the QFMA Corporate Governance Code 
and the Companies Law.

	 7.1	 Shareholders’	Rights	in	Assembly	Meetings
  Shareholders are invited and encouraged to 

attend the company’s Annual General Meeting 
(AGM).  The AGM provides a forum in which 
Shareholders have an opportunity to listen to and 
engage with the Board on matters included in the 
agenda.

  In accordance with Article 138 of the Companies 
Law, Article 32 of the QFMA Corporate Governance 
Code and Article 57 of the Company’s Articles of 
Associations, Shareholders representing at least 
25% of the Company’s capital are entitled to call 
for an extraordinary general assembly meeting. 
Pursuant to the procedures prescribed by the Law 
and Article 32 of the QFMA Corporate Governance 
Code, Shareholders who own at least 10% of 
the Company’s capital are entitled to request to 
convene a general assembly meeting provided 
if the matters raised justify convening such a 
meeting. 

  The Company ensures that Shareholders’ rights 
with regard to the assembly meetings and 
procedures are observed. These include but are 
not limited to: 

  • being notified of the date and location of the 
assembly meetings and receiving the meeting 
agenda at least 15 days prior to the general 
assembly meeting date.  In addition, the 
Company’s financial and Board reports shall be 
published in two local daily newspapers (one 
of which shall be in Arabic).; 

  • attending meetings of the general assembly 
and participating in its deliberations;

  • discussing matters listed in the agenda;

  • requesting, when allowed by law, to include in 
the general assembly’s meeting agenda certain 
matters to be discussed during the assembly 
meeting. 

  • asking questions to Board Members and 
receiving answers. 

  • Shareholders are entitled to appeal to the 
General Assembly if the answers are considered 
insufficient; 

  • voting on general resolutions, receiving 
information about the rules and procedures 
governing the voting process;

  • being entitled to object to any decision 
considered serving the interests of or harming 
a certain group of Shareholders; or bringing 
a special benefit to Board Members and/or 
Company Members against the Company’s 
interests; and,

  • having access to the general assembly minutes 
of meetings in a timely manner. 

  Additionally, as set forth under Article 32 of the 
QFMA Corporate Governance Code, Shareholders 
are entitled to appoint (in writing and with a 
power of attorney) another Shareholder who 
is not a Board Member to attend the general 
assembly on his/her behalf; provided that this 
Shareholder by way of proxy shall not cast a vote 
for more than (5%) of the Company’s capital 
shares. The proxy Shareholder has the right 
to participate in voting in accordance with the 
relevant laws and regulations and the instructions 
given by the absent Shareholder. 

  Shareholders who are minors are not permitted to 
attend the general assembly meetings and shall 
be represented by their legal guardians and/or 
duly appointed representatives. 

	 7.2	 Shareholders’	Rights	concerning	Dividends	
Distribution

  The distribution of dividends is one of the options 
available to the Company for returning value to 
its Shareholders. During the general assembly 
meeting, the Board presents its recommendation 
regarding the dividend distribution to the 
Company’s Shareholders. Such distribution 
shall be based on multiple criteria such as 
the Company’s overall performance during the 
year, financial results, future cash and liquidity 
requirements as well as general market conditions 
and other factors deemed relevant by the Board. 
In accordance with the Company’s Dividend Policy. 
The dividends approved by the general assembly 
for distribution, whether they be in cash or bonus 
shares are given, as of right, to Shareholders who 
are listed in the register kept at the Qatar Central 
Securities Depository.

	 7.3	 Protection	of	Minority	Shareholders
  The Company ensures that all Shareholders, 

including the Minority, are treated equally without 
any discrimination. All Shareholders receive the 
same information regardless of the number of 
shares they are in possession of.

  The Company ensures that the Minority 
Shareholders are given their due rights to access 
information and voice their opinions. 

  Pursuant to the procedure prescribed in Article 
32 of the QFMA Corporate Governance Code, 
the Minority Shareholders shall be entitled 
to exercise their full rights in respect of their 
participation and voting in the general assembly 
meetings. The Company adopts the cumulative 
voting method in Board Members elections (for 
more information, refer to Section 3.5 of the 
Protection of Shareholders policy), which allows 
opportunities for a fair representation of the 
Minority Shareholders in the Board. Furthermore, 
the Company has implemented a mechanism to 
submit complaints and notify any violations or 
risks that might threaten the Company.

Shareholder No. of Shares Percentage

Al Misnad LLC Approx. 590,000,000 Approx. 47.45%

Ezdan Holding Group through its subsidiaries 
and related parties

Approx. 311,040,890 Approx. 25.02%

12. SHAREHOLDERS RECORDS
 In accordance with article 25 of the QFMA Corporate Governance Code, the Company discloses the list of its current 

major Shareholders.

**In accordance with the Shareholders List received from QCSD as of 28 November 2019 
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13. DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS
 In line with Article 4 of the QFMA Corporate Governance 

Code and in order to uphold high standards of 
disclosure, QIG follows the following procedure:

 • The Company ensures that any disclosed 
information is consistently accurate, clear and 
reliable. 

 • In this context, the Company has established a 
Corporate Governance Committee (CGC), which is 
mandated to ensure the Company’s compliance 
with corporate governance rules.

 • The Legal Department and the CGC assist the 
Board, the Executive Management and the relevant 
Company’s departments to understand their 
respective roles and responsibilities relating to 
disclosure requirements. 

 QIG is committed to disclosing (when applicable) any 
violation which has occurred during the financial year 
in accordance with the applicable governance rules 
and regulations while also implementing remedial 
measures to avoid the reoccurrence of similar events. 

 With reference to Article 52 of the QFMA Offering & 
Listing of Securities Rulebook related to the Company’s 
lawsuits disclosure, please refer to the financial 
statement as of 31 December 2019

14. CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
 In line with our vision “to effectively demonstrate our 

commitment to the community and to the nation”, 
QIG considers that corporate social responsibility (CSR) 
is a crucial pillar of the business environment. Both 
corporate governance and CSR activities within QIG 
focus on adopting ethical practices in its business and 
demonstrating commitment towards its Stakeholders. 

 During 2019, some of the initiatives undertaken by the 
Group to demonstrate a strong commitment towards 
CSR include:

	 A.	Participation	in	Social	Activities

 International Men’s Day
 QIG supported International Men’s Day by participating, 

through one of its subsidiaries, the Europcar Franchise 
in Qatar, in an event involving the growing of 
moustaches during the month of November to raise 
awareness of men’s health issues, such as prostate 
cancer, testicular cancer and suicide. 

 World Environment Day
 QIG acknowledges climate change and the importance 

of reducing carbon footprint and eliminating effluent 
water.  Therefore, QIG demonstrated its commitment 
towards World Environment Day through an internal 
CSR activity with a “Going Green” slogan, which was 
initiated by one of its subsidiaries Al Khalij Cement 
Company (AKCC), and took place at its Um Bab plant 
where managers and employees gathered to plant 
trees around the factory to reduce carbon footprint and 
effluent water.  

15. SUSTAINABILITY
 QIG believes that it has a responsibility to generate 

profits for purpose.

 Through our services, we seek to enable economic and 
social inclusion across our group, by helping customers 
achieve their aspirations, which helps us raise living 
standards and help communities more broadly – one of 
our aims as a Group.

 With more than twenty (20) different nationalities 
working together in Qatar, QIG is proud of and deeply 
respects its diversity. We work in an atmosphere of 
mutual respect and support and share the same values 
that define our group and our approach to business. 

 We are committed to the protection of the 
environment, health and well-being, to the mitigation 
of climate change and the conservation of nature. Our 
objective is to ensure the continued improvement 
of our environmental performance, with the aim to 
use energy and natural resources more efficiently, 
minimize the production of waste and air emissions, 
reducing also the water discharges while seeking ways 
to preserve heritage, landscape and biological diversity

 October Breast Cancer Awareness Month
 QIG supported the October Breast Cancer Awareness 

Month, an annual campaign to increase the disease 
awareness and to raise funds for research into its 
cause, prevention, diagnosis, treatment and cure. 
By wearing and sharing the Marhaba pink stickers, 
Europcar’s employees, participated in the advocacy 
and helped spread awareness. 

	 B.	Cultural	and	Educational	Events

 Stars of Science
 QIG contributed to the premier innovation TV show 

in the Arab world, Stars of Science, through one 
of its renowned companies Al Khalij Cement.  The 
edutainment TV show was launched by Qatar 
Foundation in order to empower Arab innovators to 
develop technological solutions for their communities, 
benefitting people’s health and lifestyles and helping 
to preserve the environment. AKCC provided its 
technical support to Hossam Abou Ghali, one of the 
innovators, who reached the finals in season 11 of the 
show.  

 Hossam’s solution is an innovative building material, 
which helps reduce cooling energy consumption and 
improve cooled air distribution efficiency. 

 Cricket Tournament
 QIG was the premium sponsor of the shipping agency 

fraternity cricket tournament in Qatar, through one of 
its subsidiaries, QIG Marine Services. The tournament 
took place at MIC Sports Complex Cricket ground in 
Mesaieed.  Twelve (12) teams participated in the event 
and there was a total of twenty-six (26) matches.

 Musical Extravaganza “Manjanippoonilavu”
 QIG participated as a silver sponsor in the grand 

musical extravaganza - “Manjanippoonilavu” – a 
musical voyage at Qatar Volley Ball Association Indoor 
Hall. Europcar, a subsidiary of Qatari Investors Group, 
provided the transportation services for the program 
Artists to and from the Airport, Program Venue and 
Hotel.

 In line with the Qatar National Vision 2030 objectives, 
QIG reaffirms its commitment towards the community 
by continuing its corporate social responsibility 
activities for 2020.

 Apart from complying with local law, we are also 
conducting our businesses following sustainable 
development principles. At the same time, we take 
into account the views and opinions of our local and 
global Stakeholders.

 QIG has continued achieving its goals with regard to its 
social responsibility towards the local community for 
this year through the support of many initiatives that 
are intended to contribute to support the development 
within the country.

 Moreover, the events we participated in reflect our 
orientation and highlight our activities in the various 
areas that underpin the Group’s corporate social 
responsibility.

 The Group also considers spreading its social 
responsibility policy as a priority, as the culture of 
promoting social awareness among individual’s fosters 
interconnection between all and reflects the Group’s 
commitment to the local community in which it 
operates.
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F i n a n c i a l

R e p o r t s

2 0 1 9

The consolidated financial statements of Qatari 

Investors Group Q.P.S.C. and its subsidiaries 

comprise the consolidated statement of financial 

position, the consolidated statement of profit 

or loss and other comprehensive income, the 

consolidated statement of changes in equity, the 

consolidated statement of cash flows and notes 

to the consolidated financial statements for the 

year ended December 31, 2019.

I n d e p e n d e n t

A u d i t o r ’ s

R e p o r t

To the Shareholders of
Qatari Investors Group Q.P.S.C.
Doha - Qatar

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements 

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial 
statements of Qatari Investors Group Q.P.S.C. (“the 
Company”), and its subsidiaries (together referred 
as “the Group”) which comprise the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at December 31, 
2019, and the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and consolidated 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting 
policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the 
Group as at December 31, 2019, and its consolidated 
financial performance and its consolidated cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section 
of our report. We are independent of the Group in 
accordance with the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the other 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 
the Group’s consolidated financial statements in Qatar, 
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of 
the current period. These matters were addressed in 
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 
these matters. For each matter below, our description 
of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in 
the context.
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Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters

Impairment of goodwill

The Group has QR 312,819,226 of goodwill at December 
31, 2019 arising from past acquisitions of subsidiaries as 
disclosed in the Note 8.

As required by International Accounting Standard 36 
“Impairment of Assets”, an annual impairment assessment 
was performed by the management.

In carrying out the impairment assessment of goodwill, the 
management adopted the income approach and prepared 
discounted future cash flow forecast of subsequent 5-year 
period to determine the recoverable amounts (value-in –
use) of the CGU’s.

Considering that value-in-use calculations involve 
significant judgements and estimates and has the risk of 
material misstatement, we have considered this matters as 
a key audit matter.

The key judgements include identification of cash 
generating units, growth rates in future cash flow forecasts 
both short term and longer term, discount rates applied to 
these forecasts.

Our audit procedures in this area included the following:

i. obtained an understanding and evaluated the Group’s 
impairment and evaluated management’s reasoning for 
identification of the Group’s CGU’s.

ii. evaluated key assumptions used in the impairment 
model for goodwill, including the operating cash 
flow projections, discount rates, and long-term 
growth rates and compared them with independently 
available external data. We assessed the reliability and 
reasonability of future cash flow forecasts through 
review of actual past performance, comparison to 
previous forecasts.

iii. challenged the appropriateness of management’s 
sensitivities based on our work performed on the 
key assumptions, and recalculated these sensitised 
scenarios.

iv. assessed the appropriateness and completeness of 
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements.

Valuation of investment properties

The Group owns a portfolio of commercial and residential 
property assets valued at QR. 776,107,964 at December 31, 
2019. 

The Group records its investment properties at fair 
value, with changes in fair values being recognised in 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income.

The Group uses a professionally qualified external valuer to 
fair value the Group’s portfolio.

The valuation of the portfolio, including a number of 
development properties, is a significant judgement area 
and involves a number of assumptions. In addition, the 
valuation of the Group’s property portfolio is inherently 
subjective due to, among other factors, the individual 
nature of each property, its location and the expected 
future rental revenues for that particular property.

i. We evaluated the objectivity, independence and 
expertise of the external valuators appointed by the 
management.

ii. We tested the accuracy and completeness of the 
underlying data used as inputs for the valuation.

iii. We verified the reasonableness of the underlying 
assumptions used by the valuator by comparing the 
assumptions used with  internal and external data. 

iv. Assessed the adequacy and completeness of the 
disclosures on the valuation of investment properties, 
presented in the consolidated financial statements.

Revenues

Revenue recognition has been identified as a key audit 
matter due to the following:

•	 Significant	volume	of	transactions;	and

•	 The	auditing	professional	standards	presume	that	there	
is significant risk related to revenue recognition.

The accounting policy for revenue is outlined in Note 3 and 
a breakdown of revenue is presented in Note 26.

Our audit procedures to address the risk of material 
misstatement relating to accuracy, completeness and 
timeliness of revenue recognition included:

I. Evaluating the design and implementations, and testing 
the operating effectiveness of relevant controls over the 
revenue	cycle;

II. Testing of IT general controls and major IT applications 
controls	related	to	revenue	recognition;	and

III. Performing substantive test of details and analytical 
procedures.

IV. Assessed the adequacy and completeness of the 
disclosures.

Other matters
The financial statements of the Group for the year ended 
December 31, 2018 were audited by other independent 
auditors whose report dated January 30, 2019, expressed 
unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

Other Information
Board of Directors are responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises the Board 
of Directors Report, which we obtained prior to the date 
of this auditors’ report and the annual report, which 
is expected to be made available to us after that date. 
The other information does not include the consolidated 
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does 
not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance or conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other 
information that we obtained prior to the date of this 
auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with 
Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements  
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS and the applicable provisions of Qatar 

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters

Legal cases

The Group is engaged in a number of legal actions, of which 
the most significant are disclosed in Note 37. There are 
claims which could have an impact on the results of the 
Group if the potential exposures were to materialise.

We discussed this issue with internal legal counsel 
and read available external information in order to 
understand the latest position of the proceedings and 
assess management’s views as to the strength of the 
claim against the Group. From the evidence obtained 
management has made the decision not to make a 
provision. However, given the uncertainty involved, the 
matter is not without risk. 

We also assessed the disclosures provided in order to 
determine whether the disclosures were sufficiently clear 
regarding the uncertainties that existed.

Adoption of IFRS -16

The Group adopted IFRS 16 Leases effective from January 
1, 2019. IFRS 16 replaced the previous standard IAS 17 and 
specifies how an IFRS adopter will recognize, measure, 
present and disclose leases. The group decided to apply the 
modified retrospective approach for the transition accounting.

The application of the new standard gave rise to a right-of-
use asset of QR 81,469,248, a decrease in prepayments of 
QR 4,154,142, a corresponding recognition of lease liabilities 
of QR 77,315,106 as at the date of initial application of the 
Standard January 1, 2019.

The assessment of the impact of the new standard is 
significant to our audit, as the balances recorded are 
material, the update of the accounting policy requires policy 
elections and the implementation process to identify and 
process all relevant data associated with lease is complex. 

The measurement of the right-of-use asset and lease liability 
is based on assumptions such as discount rates and the 
lease terms, including termination and renewal options. 
Hence this is considered a key audit matter.

The lease related disclosures included in the notes to 
consolidated	financial	statements	are	as	follows;
•	 The	transitional	impact	of	IFRS	16	has	been	disclosed	in	

Note 2(d)

The lease related information, the Group as lessee has been 
disclosed in Note 21.

Our audit procedures in this area included the following:

i. Obtained an understanding and evaluated the Group’s 
implementation process, including the review of the 
updated accounting policy elections in accordance with 
IFRS 16.

ii. We evaluated management assumptions, specifically 
the assumptions used to determine the discount rates, 
lease terms and measurement principals with the 
assistance of our internal expert.

iii. Tested the factual inputs and calculation of the 
right-of-use asset and lease liability calculated by the 
management for each material lease contract.

iv. Obtained an understanding and evaluated the key 
controls associated with the relevant process for 
leases and performed substantive procedures on 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
consolidated statement of financial position balances 
that were subject to the effect of IFRS 16.

v. Assessed the modified retrospective application and 
adequacy of the Group’s disclosures of the impact 
of the new standard in the consolidated financial 
statements.



page a n n u a l
r e p o r t

page
4140

Commercial Companies Law, and for such internal control 
as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, 
management is responsible for assessing the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management 
either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors are responsible for overseeing the 
Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISA’s, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also
•	 Identify	and	assess	the	risks	of	material	misstatement	

of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risk, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than the 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omission, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain	an	understanding	of	internal	control	relevant	
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the internal control.

•	 Evaluate	the	appropriateness	of	accounting	policies	
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by management.

•	 Conclude	on	the	appropriateness	of	management’s	use	
of the going concern basis of accounting and based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that 
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 

evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate	the	overall	presentation,	structure	and	content	
of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain	sufficient	appropriate	audit	evidence	regarding	
the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for 
the direction, supervision and performance of the group 
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a 
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate 
with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and 
where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with 
governance, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements of the current period and are therefore the key 
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s 
report unless law and regulations preclude public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, 
we determine that a matter should not be communicated 
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
Further, as required by the Qatar Commercial Companies 
Law, we are of the opinion that proper books of account 
were maintained by the Group and its financial statements 
are in agreement with, and a physical inventory verification 
was conducted in accordance with established principles. 
We have obtained all the information and explanations 
which we considered necessary for the purpose of our 
audit. To the best of our knowledge and belief and according 
to the information given to us, we are not aware of any 
violations of applicable provisions of Qatar Commercial 
Companies Law 11 of 2015 and the terms of the Company’s 
Articles of Association were committed during the year, 
which might have had a material adverse effect on the 
Group’s financial position and its financial performance as at 
and for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Magdy Aboelkhier
Member of Qatar Association of 
Certified Public Accountant
License No. 321
QFMA Registration Auditor’s No. 120151
Doha – Qatar
February 2, 2020

 Notes 2019 2018
  QR. QR.

ASSETS 
Non-current assets    
Property, plant and equipment 5 2,283,299,820  2,339,172,482 
Right-of-use assets 6 77,823,085  –
Investment properties 7 776,107,964  788,427,248 
Goodwill 8 312,819,226  312,819,226
Investments in associates 9 43,565,758  56,156,761 
Financial investments at FVTOCI 10 7,205,676  5,351,135 

Total non-current assets  3,500,821,529  3,501,926,852 

Current assets    
Contract assets 11 2,259,144  1,129,821 
Inventories 12 459,682,077  361,306,242 
Prepayments and other debit balances 13 49,946,670  60,241,723 
Advances to contractors and suppliers 14 32,181,485  49,690,909 
Due from related parties 15(a) 2,505,493  4,376,147 
Accounts receivable 16 303,482,967  275,784,291 
Cash and bank balances  17 427,870,495  483,945,227

Total current assets  1,277,928,331  1,236,474,360  

Total assets  4,778,749,860  4,738,401,212
    
EQUITY    
Share capital 18 1,243,267,780  1,243,267,780 
Legal reserve 19 621,633,890  621,633,890 
Fair value reserve  3,589,876  2,022,580 
Retained earnings  878,753,868 802,329,499
Proposed dividends  68,379,728 93,245,084

Equity attributable to the shareholders of the Company  2,815,625,142          2,762,498,833 
Non-controlling interests  39,178,133  40,107,032 

Total equity  2,854,803,275  2,802,605,865
    
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities    
Bank borrowings 20 1,440,347,409 1,482,353,539 
Lease liabilities 21 69,170,478 –
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits 22 8,665,154 11,966,754 

Total non-current liabilities   1,518,183,041 1,494,320,293 

Current liabilities    
Bank borrowings 20 124,042,265 117,303,014 
Lease liabilities 21 6,465,369 –
Accounts payable 23 31,128,913 51,718,433 
Due to related parties 15(b) 2,682,093 3,857,145 
Retention payables   23,953,953 25,667,249 
Notes payable  24 4,609,076 1,488,821 
Accruals and other liabilities 25 212,881,875 241,440,392

Total current liabilities  405,763,544 441,475,054 

Total liabilities  1,923,946,585  1,935,795,347 

Total equity and liabilities  4,778,749,860  4,738,401,212

These consolidated financial statements were approved by the board of directors and were signed on their behalf by the 
following on February 2, 2020.

Abdulla Bin Nasser Al Misnad 
Board Chairman

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES ARE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consol idated Statement of

F inancia l  Posi t ion
As at December 31, 2019
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THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES ARE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consol idated Statement of 

Prof i t  or  Loss and Other

Comprehensive Income
For the year ended December 31, 2019

 Notes 2019 2018
  QR. QR.

Revenue 26 628,733,071  701,956,956 
Cost of revenue  27 (304,218,963) (328,300,584)

Gross profit   324,514,108  373,656,372 

Rental income  6,986,107  6,591,966 
Income from short-term deposits and saving accounts  8,246,271  8,042,093 
Other income  9,156,801  3,116,564
Investment income  623,160  2,502,147 
Net change in fair values of investment properties 7 (24,441,643) 1,506,599 
Selling and distribution expenses 28 (8,098,394) (5,457,854)
General and administrative expenses 29 (99,158,741) (113,660,932)
Finance costs  (82,849,751) (80,259,802)
Share of profit from investments in associates   9 18,113,167  18,582,004

Net profit for the year  153,091,085  214,619,157

Attributable to:    
Shareholders of the Company  148,517,023  205,875,812 
Non-controlling interest  4,574,062  8,743,345 

Net profit for the year  153,091,085  214,619,157 
     
Other comprehensive income     
Items not to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods     
Net change in fair value of financial investments designated  at FVTOCI  1,567,296  (1,030,438)

Total comprehensive income for the year   154,658,381  213,588,719
    
Attributable to:    
Shareholders of the Company  150,084,319  204,845,374 
Non-controlling interests  4,574,062  8,743,345 

Total comprehensive income for the year   154,658,381  213,588,719

Basic and diluted earnings per share 31 0.12 0.17
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 Notes 2019 2018
  QR. QR.

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net profit for the year  153,091,085  214,619,157
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 5 104,215,344  91,326,096 
Depreciation on right-of-use assets 6 7,900,559  –
Accrued finance costs  83,448,691   80,259,802 
Interest on lease liabilities 21 4,531,611  –
Share of profit from investments in associates 9 (18,113,167) (18,582,004)
Write off of property, plant and equipment 5 907,575   1,182,273 
Impairment of goodwill  –    1,638,359
Net movement in provision for inventories 12 11,742,480   (2,617,242)
Provision for impairment of accounts receivables 16 5,422,806   7,062,403 
(Gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (4,442,132)  (109,992)
Net change in fair values of investment properties 7 24,441,643   (1,506,599)
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits  22 2,676,851   1,715,595

  375,823,346  374,987,848
Movements in working capital:
Inventories  (110,118,315)  (57,336,892)
Prepayments and other debit balances  6,999,624  (24,613,971)
Advances to contractors and suppliers  17,509,424   (13,196,895)
Due from related parties  2,397,638   (2,288,227) 
Accounts receivable  (30,130,256) (34,617,832)
Contracts assets  (1,129,323)  3,318,461 
Accounts payable  (27,814,109)  4,748,684 
Due to related parties  (1,437,390)  185,291
Retention payables  (1,713,296)  (2,515,989)
Accruals and other liabilities  (38,107,138)  24,090,900 

Cash generated from operations  192,280,205   272,761,378
Employees’ end of service benefits paid 22 (6,359,365)  (3,922,398)
Finance costs paid  (27,915,357)  (25,968,857)

Net cash generated from operating activities  158,005,483   242,870,123 
   
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment  4,736,124   110,000 
Purchases of property, plant and equipment 5 (23,637,307)  (5,399,612)
Additions to investment properties 7 (8,249,579)  (11,067,943)
Additions to investment in financial assets   (288,500)  (288,500)
Restricted cash margin  (30,000,000) –
Dividends from investments in associates 9 13,707,131   16,023,806 
Net cash addition from business combination 32 11,578,054   46,609,335 

Net cash (used in) / from investing activities  (32,154,077)  45,987,086

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from borrowings  1,489,069,849   1,440,075,841 
Repayment of borrowings   (1,583,742,844) (1,532,124,368)
Payment of lease liabilities  (10,219,292) –
Payment of social and sports fund contribution  (5,146,895)  (6,326,440)
Notes payable  3,120,255   1,417,978 
Dividends paid to the shareholders /  non-controlling interests  (115,745,084)  (93,245,084)

Net cash used in financing activities  (222,664,011)  (190,202,073)

Net (decrease) / increase in unrestricted cash and cash equivalents  (96,812,605)  98,655,136 
Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  431,643,719   332,988,583 

Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 17 334,831,114   431,643,719

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES ARE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consol idated Statement of

Cash F lows
For the year ended December 31, 2019

1. INCORPORATION AND ACTIVITIES
 Qatari Investors Group Q.P.S.C. (the “Company”) is a Qatari Shareholding Company incorporated in the state of Qatar 

on May 4, 2006 in accordance with the Qatar Commercial Companies Laws and the terms of its Articles of Association. 
The Company operates under commercial registration No. 32831. 

 The Company is primarily engaged in investing in shares and other financial instruments, managing and providing 
support to its subsidiaries, ownership, leasing of patent, trademarks and investment properties. 

 The address of the Company’s registered head office is Wadi Alseel, Alesteklal Street, Doha, Qatar. 

  The accompanying consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and of its 
wholly owned subsidiaries (collectively “the Group”).

 Composition of the Group: 
The Group owns 100% of the beneficial interest and controls the following entities as at December 31, 2019:

 Place of Ownership
Name of subsidiary incorporation interest Principal Activity

QIG Property L.L.C. Qatar 100% Real estate

The Investors Company L.L.C. Qatar 100% Trading of construction materials,  
   equipment and trucks

Qatari Investment Group L.L.C. Qatar 100% Investment and other trading

QIG Marine Services Company L.L.C. * Qatar 100% Marine services and shipping

QIG Technology Company L.L.C. * Qatar 100% Information technology services

QIG Global Company L.L.C. Qatar 100% International companies   
   representation

QIG Trading Company L.L.C. * Qatar 100% International companies   
   representation

QIG Financial Services L.L.C. Qatar 100% Financial services

QIG Projects Development L.L.C. * Qatar 100% Industry equipment works

QIG Light Industries L.L.C. * Qatar 100% Mechanical and industrial   
   engineering equipment

QIG Contracting Company L.L.C. Qatar 100% Contracting services

QIG General Services L.L.C. Qatar 100% Construction materials trading –   
   contracting

Qatari Group for Investment L.L.C. Qatar 100% Investment and other trading

*These entities hold investments in other subsidiaries controlled by the Group such as Al Khalij Cement Company 
L.L.C, International Technical and Trading Company L.L.C., Qatar Security Systems L.L.C. and few marine services and 
shipping companies.

During the year, the Group has obtained control over an entity that was earlier classified as investment in associate 
(Note 32).

Notes to the Consol idated

Financia l  Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2019
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
a) Statement of compliance
 The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRSs”) and applicable provisions of Qatar Commercial Companies’ Law.

b)   Basis of preparation
 The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis except for investment 

properties and certain financial instruments that are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period.

 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes 
into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into 
account when pricing the asset or liability at measurement date. 

 For financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree 
to which the inputs to the fair value measurement are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair 
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

(i)  Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 
entity	can	access	at	the	measurement	date;

(ii)  Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset 
or	liability,	either	directly	or	indirectly;	and

(iii) Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

c)  Functional and presentation currency
 These consolidated financial statements are presented in Qatari Riyal (QR.), which is the Group’s functional and 

presentation currency.

d)   Newly effective standards, amendments and improvement to standards
 The new International Financial Reporting Standard (“IFRS” or “standard”) No. 16 has become effective from 1 

January 2019. The nature and effect of the changes as a result of adoption of this new accounting standard is 
described below. Several other amendments and interpretations apply for the first time from January 1, 2019, but 
do not have an impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group. The Group has not early adopted 
any standards, interpretations or amendments that have been issued but are not yet effective.

1) IFRS 16 Leases 
 IFRS 16 was issued in January 2016 and it replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an 

Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases-Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of 
Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.

 IFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and 
requires lessees to account for all leases under a single on-balance sheet model similar to the accounting for 
finance leases under IAS 17. The standard includes two recognition exemptions for lessees – leases of ’low-
value’ assets (e.g., personal computers) and short-term leases (i.e., leases with a lease term of 12 months or 
less). At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make lease payments (i.e., 
the lease liability) and an asset representing the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., 
the right-of-use asset). Lessees will be required to separately recognise the interest expense on the lease 
liability and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset. Lessees will be also required to remeasure 
the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events (e.g., a change in the lease term, a change in future 
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine those payments). The lessee 
will generally recognise the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-
of-use asset.

 Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from today’s accounting under IAS 17. Lessors 
will continue to classify all leases using the same classification principle as in IAS 17 and distinguish between 
two types of leases: operating and finance leases. 

Notes to the Consol idated

Financia l  Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2019

 The Group has applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach the Group has 
not restated its comparative figures but has recognised the cumulative effect of adopting IFRS 16, if any as 
an adjustment to equity as at January 1, 2019.

 The Group has elected not to include initial direct costs in the measurement of the right-of-use asset for 
operating leases in existence at the date of initial application of IFRS 16, being 1 January 2019. At this date, 
the Company has also elected to measure the right-of-use assets at an amount equal to the lease liability 
adjusted for any prepaid or accrued lease payments that existed at the date of transition.

 On transition, for leases previously accounted for as operating leases with a remaining lease term of less 
than 12 months and for leases of low-value assets the Group has applied the optional exemptions to not 
recognize right-of-use assets but to account for the lease expense on a straight-line basis over the remaining 
lease term.

 On transition to IFRS 16 the weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities 
recognized under IFRS 16 was 5.75%.

 Based on the above, as at 1 January 2019: 
•		Right-of	-use	assets	of	QR	81,469,248	were	recognized	and	presented	separately	in	the	statement	of	

financial position. 

•		Lease	liabilities	of	QR	77,315,106	were	recognized.

•		Prepayments	of	QR	4,154,142	related	to	previous	operating	leases	were	recognized	to	right-of-use	assets.	

•		The	net	effect	of	these	adjustments	had	zero	impact	to	the	opening	retained	earnings.

 The following is a reconciliation of total operating lease commitments at 31 December 2018 to the lease 
liabilities recognised at 1 January 2019:

  QR. QR.

 Operating lease commitments as at 31 December 2018  114,165,614

 Recognition exemption for :  

 - Short term leases 2,997,888 

 - Leases of low-value assets 48,013 

   (3,045,901)

 Operating lease commitments before discounting at 1 January 2019  111,119,713

 Weighted average incremental borrowing rate as at 1 January 2019  5.75%

 Discounted operating lease commitments at 1 January 2019  77,315,106

 Commitments relating to leases previously classified as finance leases  –

 Total lease liabilities recognised under IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019  77,315,106

 Total lease liabilities recognized under IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019  77,315,106

 Prepayments reclassified  4,154,142

 Trade and other payables reclassified  –

 Total right-of-use assets recognized under IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019  81,469,248

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)
 d)   Newly effective standards, amendments and improvement to standards (continued)
  1) IFRS 16 Leases (continued)
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)
 d)   Newly effective standards, amendments and improvement to standards (continued)
  1) IFRS 16 Leases (continued)

 The following amounts are recognised under the new standard and included in the respective heading of the 
consolidated statements of financial position, profit or loss and other comprehensive income and cash flows:

  December 31, January 1, 
  2019  2019
  QR. QR.

 Right-of-use assets 85,723,644 81,469,248
 Accumulated depreciation (7,900,559) –

  77,823,085 81,469,248

 Lease liabilities
    Current 6,465,369 4,767,512
   Non-current 69,170,478 72,547,594

     75,635,847 77,315,106

 
  December 31,
  2019 
  QR. 

 Depreciation on right-of-use assets 7,900,559 

 Finance cost on lease liabilities 4,531,611 

 Rent expenses on short term and low value leases 4,090,613 

 Cash outflows for leases 10,219,292

2) Other amendments to Standards 
 The following interpretation and amendments to standards have also been applied by the Group in 

preparation of these consolidated financial statements.

•	 IFRIC	Interpretation	23	Uncertainty	over	Income	Tax	Treatment	

•	 Amendments	to	IFRS	9:	Prepayment	Features	with	Negative	Compensation	

•	 Amendments	to	IAS	19:	Plan	Amendment,	Curtailment	or	Settlement	

•	 Amendments	to	IAS	28:	Long-term	interests	in	associates	and	joint	ventures	

•	 Annual	Improvements	2015-2017	Cycle	(issued	in	December	2017)	
– Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations
– Amendments to IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
– Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes
– Amendments to IAS 23 Borrowing Costs

 The adoption of the above did not result in any changes to previously reported net profit or net assets of the 
Group. 

 New and amended standards not yet effective, but available for early adoption
 The below new and amended IFRS that are available for early adoption for financial year ended December 31, 

2019 are not effective until a later period, and they have not been applied in preparing these consolidated 
financial statements.

 Adoption not expected to impact the Group’s consolidated financial statements

 Effective date Description

	 January	1,	2020	 •	 Amendments	to	IFRS	3
	 	 •	 Amendments	to	References	to	the	Conceptual	Framework	in	IFRS	Standards
	 	 •	 Amendments	to	IAS	1	and	IAS	8	on	‘Definition	of	Material’

	 January	1,	2022	 •	 IFRS	17	Insurance	Contracts

	 Effective	date	to	be	 •	 Amendments	to	IFRS	10	and	IAS	28:	Sale	or	Contribution	of	Assets		 	
determined  between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture 

  
3.   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These 

policies have been consistently applied to both periods presented in these financial statements unless otherwise stated.

 Basis of consolidation  
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and its controlled entities 
(its subsidiaries) as at December 31, 2019. Control is achieved when the Company: 
•		 has	power	over	the	investee;	

•	 is	exposed,	or	has	rights,	to	variable	returns	from	its	involvement	with	the	investee;	and	

•	 has	the	ability	to	use	its	power	to	affect	its	returns.

 The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

 When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it considers that it has power over 
the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the 
investee unilaterally. The Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the 
Company’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:
•	 the	size	of	the	Company’s	holding	of	voting	rights	relative	to	the	size	and	dispersion	of	holdings	of	the	other	vote	
holders;

•	 potential	voting	rights	held	by	the	Company,	other	vote	holders	or	other	parties;

•	 rights	arising	from	other	contractual	arrangements;	and

•	 any	additional	facts	and	circumstances	that	indicate	that	the	Company	has,	or	does	not	have,	the	current	ability	
to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previous 
shareholder’s meetings.

 Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 
Company loses control of the subsidiary.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)
 d)   Newly effective standards, amendments and improvement to standards (continued)
  2) Other amendments to Standards (continued)
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3.   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

 Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributable to the owners of the Company 
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of the subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of 
the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit 
balance.

 Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used 
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

 The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary, 
adjustments are made to the financial statements of the subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with 
those used by the Group.

 All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income and expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

 The financial statements of the Subsidiaries were prepared for the same period ended December 31, 2019.

 Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity therein. Those interests 
of non-controlling shareholders that are present ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate 
share of net assets upon liquidation may initially be measured at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ 
proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement is made on 
an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Other non-controlling interests are initially measured at fair value. Subsequent 
to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial recognition 
plus the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed to 
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

 Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity 
transactions. The carrying amount of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the 
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling 
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and 
attributed to the shareholders of the Company.

 Business combinations & goodwill
 Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business 

combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets 
transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests 
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. In a business combination achieved without the transfer 
of consideration, the Group substitutes the acquisition-date fair value of its interest in the acquiree for the acquisition-
date fair value of the consideration transferred to measure goodwill or a gain on a bargain purchase. Acquisition-related 
costs are generally recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as incurred. 

 At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value.

 When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held interests in the acquired entity are 
remeasured to its acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. 
Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised 
in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss, where such treatment would be appropriate if that 
interest were disposed of.

 Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during the 
‘measurement	period’	(which	cannot	exceed	one	year	from	the	acquisition	date)	about	facts	and	circumstances	that	
existed at the acquisition date.

 If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the 
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those 
provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or liabilities are 
recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date 
that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.

 Goodwill
 Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 

interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) 
over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after 
reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed 
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the 
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as a bargain purchase gain.

 Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is initially recognised and measured as set out above.

 Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. For the purposes of impairment testing, 
goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected 
to benefit from the synergies of the combination. 

 A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently 
when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is 
less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 
allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata based on the carrying amount of each asset in the 
unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods. 

 On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of 
the profit or loss on disposal.

 Investments in associates
 An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate 

in the financial and operations policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.  
The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using 
the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially recognised in the 
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds the 
Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s 
net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are 
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf 
of the associate.

 An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the investee becomes 
an associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over the 
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, 
which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of 
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in 
profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

 When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in 
accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value 
in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount.  Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the 
carrying amount of the investment. 

3.   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Business combinations & goodwill (continued)
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 The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment ceases to be an associate, or 
when the investment is classified as held for sale. When the Group retains an interest in the former associate and the 
retained interest is a financial asset, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair 
value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition in accordance with IFRS 9. The difference between the carrying 
amount of the associate at the date the equity method was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained interest 
and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in the associate is included in the determination of the gain or loss 
on disposal of the associate. If a gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate 
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, then Group also reclassifies the 
gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity method is discontinued.  
Unrealized gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the associate are eliminated to the 
extent of the interest in the associate.

 Investment properties
 Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or capital appreciation (including property under 

construction for such purposes). Investment properties are initially measured at cost and subsequently at fair value 
with any change therein recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in 
the period in which they arise.

 Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment properties are 
permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. The difference between 
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income in the period of derecognition.

 Transfers are made to or from investment properties only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from investment 
properties to owner-occupied properties, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the net book value at the date 
of change in use. If owner-occupied properties become investment properties, the Group accounts for such properties in 
accordance with the policy stated under properties and equipment up to the date of change in use.

 Inventories
 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials and, where 

applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present 
location and condition. Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost method. Net realisable value represents 
the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and 
distribution.

 Property, plant and equipment
 Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. Land is not 

depreciated. 

 Depreciation is recognized to write-off the cost of assets less their residual values over their useful lives using the 
straight line method. The following are the estimated useful lives of the assets:

  Useful life in years

 Buildings    15-50

 Equipment 5-30

 Furniture and  fixtures 5

 Computers and software 3

 Motor and heavy vehicles   5-10

3.   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investments in associates (continued)

 The asset’s residual values, useful lives and method of depreciation are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at each 
reporting date. The effect of any changes to estimates are accounted for on a prospective basis.

 Properties in the course of construction for production, rental or administrative purposes, or for purposes not yet 
determined, are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees and, for qualifying 
assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Such properties are classified to 
the appropriate categories of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for intended use.  Depreciation 
of these assets, on the same basis as other property, plant and equipment, commences when the assets are ready for 
their intended use.

 Expenditure incurred to replace a component of an item of property, plant and equipment that is accounted for 
separately is capitalised and the carrying amount of the component that is replaced is written off. Other subsequent 
expenditure is capitalised only when it increases future economic benefits of the related item of property, plant and 
equipment. All other expenditure is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income as the expense is incurred.

 An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the period the asset is derecognised.

 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill
 At each annual reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to 

determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication 
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if 
any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of 
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they 
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can 
be identified.

 Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at 
least annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

 The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future 
cash flows have not been adjusted.

 If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, 
the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued 
amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

 Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased 
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) 
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated 
as a revaluation increase.

3.   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
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 Financial instruments
 Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s statement of financial position when the Group 

becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

 Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and 
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial 
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognized immediately in 
profit or loss.

 Financial assets
 All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular 

way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame 
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace. 

 All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, 
depending on the classification of the financial assets.

 Classification of financial assets
 Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortised cost:
•	 the	financial	asset	is	held	within	a	business	model	whose	objective	is	to	hold	financial	assets	in	order	to	collect	
contractual	cash	flows;	and

•	 the	contractual	terms	of	the	financial	asset	give	rise	on	specified	dates	to	cash	flows	that	are	solely	payments	of	
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

 Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVTOCI):
•	 the	financial	asset	is	held	within	a	business	model	whose	objective	is	achieved	by	both	collecting	contractual	cash	
flows	and	selling	the	financial	assets;	and

•	 the	contractual	terms	of	the	financial	asset	give	rise	on	specified	dates	to	cash	flows	that	are	solely	payments	of	
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

 By default, all other financial assets are measured subsequently at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). Despite the 
foregoing, the Group may make the following irrevocable election/designation at initial recognition of a financial asset:
•	 the	Group	may	irrevocably	elect	to	present	subsequent	changes	in	fair	value	of	an	equity	investment	in	other	
comprehensive	income	if	certain	criteria	are	met	(see	(ii)	below);	and

•	 the	Group	may	irrevocably	designate	a	debt	investment	that	meets	the	amortised	cost	or	FVTOCI	criteria	as	
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch (see (iii) below).

i. Amortised cost and effective interest method
 The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating 

interest income over the relevant period.

 For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are 
credit-impaired on initial recognition), the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, 
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through the expected life of 
the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt instrument 
on initial recognition. For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, a credit-adjusted effective 
interest rate is calculated by discounting the estimated future cash flows, including expected credit losses, to the 
amortised cost of the debt instrument on initial recognition.

3.   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

 The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial recognition 
minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any 
difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. The gross carrying 
amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

 Finance income is recognised using the effective interest method for debt instruments measured subsequently 
at amortised cost and at FVTOCI. For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial 
assets, finance income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a 
financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial 
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, finance income is recognised by applying the effective 
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on 
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, finance 
income is recognized by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

 For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, the Group recognises finance income by applying 
the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from initial recognition. The 
calculation does not revert to the gross basis even if the credit risk of the financial asset subsequently improves so 
that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired.

 Finance income is recognised in profit or loss and is included in the “Income from short-term deposits and savings” 
line item.

ii. Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI
 On initial recognition, the Group may make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to 

designate investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI. Designation at FVTOCI is not permitted if the equity 
investment is held for trading or if it is contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business 
combination.

A financial asset is held for trading if:
•	 it	has	been	acquired	principally	for	the	purpose	of	selling	it	in	the	near	term;	or

•	 on	initial	recognition	it	is	part	of	a	portfolio	of	identified	financial	instruments	that	the	Group	manages	together	
and	has	evidence	of	a	recent	actual	pattern	of	short-term	profit-taking;	or

•	 it	is	a	derivative	(except	for	a	derivative	that	is	a	financial	guarantee	contract	or	a	designated	and	effective	
hedging instrument). 

 Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. 
Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised 
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve. The cumulative gain or 
loss is not reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments, instead, it is transferred to retained 
earnings.

 Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9, 
unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. 

 The Group has designated all investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading as at FVTOCI on initial 
application of IFRS 9.

iii. Financial assets at FVTPL
 Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI (see (i) to (ii) above) 

are measured at FVTPL. 

 Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. 

3.   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
 Financial assets (continued)

i. Amortised cost and effective interest method (continued)



page a n n u a l
r e p o r t

page
5756

Notes to the Consol idated

Financia l  Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2019

 Foreign exchange gains and losses
 The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign 

currency and translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting period. Specifically:
•	 for	financial	assets	measured	at	amortised	cost	that	are	not	part	of	a	designated	hedging	relationship,	exchange	
differences	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	in	the	‘other	gains	and	losses’	line	item

•	 for	debt	instruments	measured	at	FVTOCI	that	are	not	part	of	a	designated	hedging	relationship,	exchange	
differences	on	the	amortised	cost	of	the	debt	instrument	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	in	the	‘other	gains	and	
losses’ line item. Other exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income in the investments 
revaluation	reserve;

•	 for	financial	assets	measured	at	FVTPL	that	are	not	part	of	a	designated	hedging	relationship,	exchange	differences	
are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	in	the	‘other	gains	and	losses’	line	item;	and

•	 for	equity	instruments	measured	at	FVTOCI,	exchange	differences	are	recognised	in	other	comprehensive	income	in	
the investments revaluation reserve.

 Impairment of financial assets
 The Group recognizes a loss allowance for expected credit losses on investments in debt instruments that measured 

at amortised cost or at FVTOCI, lease receivables, and contract assets, as well as on financial guarantee contracts. 
The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risks since initial 
recognition of the respective financial instrument.

 The Group always recognizes lifetime ECL for trade receivables, contract assets and lease receivables. The expected 
credit losses on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit 
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both 
the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of many where 
appropriate.

 For all other financial instruments, the Group recognizes lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in 
credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument has not increased significantly 
since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to 
12-month ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the 
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition instead of on evidence of a financial asset being credit-
impaired at the reporting date.

 Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the expected life 
of financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from 
default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk 
 In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, 

the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting date with the risk 
of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, 
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including 
historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking 
information considered includes the future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s debtors operate, 
obtained from economic expert reports, financial analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other 
similar organisations, as well as consideration of various external sources of actual and forecast economic 
information that relate to the Group’s core operations. 

3.   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
 Financial assets (continued)

 In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased 
significantly since initial recognition:
•	 an	actual	or	expected	significant	deterioration	in	the	financial	instrument’s	external	(if	available)	or	internal	
credit	rating;

•	 significant	deterioration	in	external	market	indicators	of	credit	risk	for	a	particular	financial	instrument,	e.g.	a	
significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor, or the length of time or 
the	extent	to	which	the	fair	value	of	a	financial	asset	has	been	less	than	its	amortised	cost;

•	 existing	or	forecast	adverse	changes	in	business,	financial	or	economic	conditions	that	are	expected	to	cause	a	
significant	decrease	in	the	debtor’s	ability	to	meet	its	debt	obligations;	

•	 an	actual	or	expected	significant	deterioration	in	the	operating	results	of	the	debtor;

•	 significant	increases	in	credit	risk	on	other	financial	instruments	of	the	same	debtor;

•	 an	actual	or	expected	significant	adverse	change	in	the	regulatory,	economic,	or	technological	environment	of	
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations. 

 Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting 
date. A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:
1. The financial instrument has a low risk of default, 

2. The debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term, and 

3. Adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce 
the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

 The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when the asset has external credit rating of 
‘investment	grade’	in	accordance	with	the	globally	understood	definition	or	if	an	external	rating	is	not	available,	the	
asset	has	an	internal	rating	of	‘performing’.	Performing	means	that	the	counterparty	has	a	strong	financial	position	
and there are no past due amounts.

 For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment 
is considered to be the date of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing the financial instrument for 
impairment. In assessing whether there has been a significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition of 
a financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on 
the contract.

 The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying 
significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

(ii) Definition of default
 The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk management purposes 

as historical experience indicates that financial assets that meet either of the following criteria are generally not 
recoverable:
•	 when	there	is	a	breach	of	financial	covenants	by	the	debtor;	or

•	 information	developed	internally	or	obtained	from	external	sources	indicates	that	the	debtor	is	unlikely	to	pay	
its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collateral held by the Group).

3.   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
 Financial assets (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
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(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets
 A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 

future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes 
observable data about the following events:
a.	 significant	financial	difficulty	of	the	issuer	or	the	borrower;

b.	 a	breach	of	contract,	such	as	a	default	or	past	due	event;

c. the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, 
having	granted	to	the	borrower	a	concession(s)	that	the	lender(s)	would	not	otherwise	consider;

d.	 it	is	becoming	probable	that	the	borrower	will	enter	bankruptcy	or	other	financial	reorganisation;	or

e. the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

(iv) Write off policy
 The Group fully provides for or writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the debtor is 

in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed 
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, financial assets written off may still be subject to 
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. 
Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses
 The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given (i.e., the magnitude 

of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss 
given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as described above. As for the 
exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting 
date;	for	financial	guarantee	contracts,	the	exposure	includes	the	amount	drawn	down	as	at	the	reporting	date,	
together with any additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the future by default date determined based 
on historical trend, the Group’s understanding of the specific future financing needs of the debtors, and other 
relevant forward-looking information.

 For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that 
are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, 
discounted at the original effective interest rate. For a lease receivable, the cash flows used for determining the 
expected credit losses is consistent with the cash flows used in measuring the lease receivable.

 For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group is required to make payments only in the event of a default by 
the debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed, the expected loss allowance is the 
expected payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group expects 
to receive from the holder, the debtor or any other party. 

 If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the 
previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no 
longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12 month ECL at the current reporting 
date, except for assets for which simplified approach was used.

 The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding 
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account, except for investments in debt instruments 
that are measured at FVTOCI, for which the loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve, and does not reduce the carrying amount of the financial asset 
in the statement of financial position.

3.   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
 Financial assets (continued)

 Derecognition of financial assets
 The Group derecognizes a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or it 

transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If 
the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the 
transferred asset, the Group recognizes its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may 
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, 
the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognizes a collateralized borrowing for the proceeds 
received.

 On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss. In addition, on derecognition 
of an investment in a debt instrument classified as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in 
the investments revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. In contrast, on derecognition of an investment in 
equity instrument which the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss 
previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to 
retained earnings.

 Financial liabilities and equity
 Debt and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance 

with the substance of the contractual arrangement and the definition of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

 Equity instruments
 An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of 

its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue 
costs.

 Repurchase of the Group’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is 
recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.

 Financial liabilities
 All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL. 

However, financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does not qualify for derecognition or when 
the continuing involvement approach applies, and financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group, are measured in 
accordance with the specific accounting policies set out below.

 Financial liabilities at FVTPL
 Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is (i) contingent consideration of an acquirer in 

a business combination, (ii) held for trading or (iii) it is designated as at FVTPL.

 A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:
•	 it	has	been	acquired	principally	for	the	purpose	of	repurchasing	it	in	the	near	term;	or

•	 on	initial	recognition	it	is	part	of	a	portfolio	of	identified	financial	instruments	that	the	Group	manages	together	and	
has	a	recent	actual	pattern	of	short-term	profit-taking;	or	

•	 it	is	a	derivative,	except	for	a	derivative	that	is	a	financial	guarantee	contract	or	a	designated	and	effective	hedging	
instrument. 

 As at the reporting date, the Group did not carry any financial liabilities that has been measured at FVTPL.

3.   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
 Financial assets (continued)
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 Financial liabilities measured subsequently at amortised cost
 Financial liabilities that are not (i) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination, (ii) 

held-for-trading, or (iii) designated as at FVTPL, are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and 
of allocating finance cost expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or 
(where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

 Financial guarantee contract liabilities
 A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder 

for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in accordance with the terms of a debt 
instrument. Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair values and, if not designated as at 
FVTPL and do not arise from a transfer of an asset, are measured subsequently at the higher of:
•	 the	amount	of	the	loss	allowance	determined	in	accordance	with	IFRS	9	(see	financial	assets	above);	and

•	 the	amount	recognised	initially	less,	where	appropriate,	cumulative	amortisation	recognised	in	accordance	with	the	
revenue recognition policies set out above.

 Foreign exchange gains and losses
 For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign currency and are measured at amortised cost at the end 

of each reporting period, the foreign exchange gains and losses are determined based on the amortised cost of the 
instruments.	These	foreign	exchange	gains	and	losses	are	recognised	in	the	‘other	gains	and	losses’	line	item	in	profit	
or loss for financial liabilities that are not part of a designated hedging relationship. For those which are designated as 
a hedging instrument for a hedge of foreign currency risk foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate component of equity.

 The fair value of financial liabilities denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency and 
translated at the spot rate at the end of the reporting period.

 Derecognition of financial liabilities
 The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or 

expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid 
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

 When the Group exchanges with the existing lender one debt instrument into another one with the substantially 
different terms, such exchange is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the 
recognition of a new financial liability. Similarly, the Group accounts for substantial modification of terms of an existing 
liability or part of it as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new liability. It is 
assumed that the terms are substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new 
terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using the original effective rate is at least 10 
per cent different from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. If the 
modification	is	not	substantial,	the	difference	between:	(1)	the	carrying	amount	of	the	liability	before	the	modification;	
and (2) the present value of the cash flows after modification should be recognised in profit or loss as the modification 
gain or loss within other gains and losses.

3.   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
 Financial liabilities (continued)  Provisions

 Provisions are recognized when the Group has an obligation (legal or constructive) arising from a past event, and the 
costs to settle the obligation are both probable and able to be reliably measured.  

 The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation 
at the statement of financial position date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. 
Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is 
the present value of those cash flows.

 When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third 
party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the 
amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

 Contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination
 Contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination are initially measured at fair value at the acquisition date. 

At the end of subsequent reporting periods, such contingent liabilities are measured at the higher of the amount that 
would be recognised in accordance with IAS 37 and the amount recognised initially less cumulative amount of income 
recognised in accordance with the principles of IFRS 15.

 Dividend distribution
 Dividend distribution to the Group’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the consolidated financial statements in 

the period in which the dividends are approved.

 Employees’ end of service benefits and pension entitlements
 The Group provides end of service benefits to its employees.  The entitlement to these benefits is based upon the 

employees’ final salary and length of service, subject to the completion of a minimum service period, calculated under 
the provisions of the Qatar Labour Law and the employees’ contracts and is payable upon resignation or termination of 
the employee. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment.  

 Under Law No. 24 of 2002 on Retirement and Pension, the Group is required to make contributions to a Government 
fund scheme for Qatari employees calculated as a percentage of the Qatari employees’ salaries. The Group’s obligations 
are limited to these contributions, which are expensed when due.

 Revenue recognition
 The Group recognises revenue from the following major sources
•	 Revenue	from	industrial	activities
•	 Contracting	revenues
•	 Services	revenue

 Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in a contract with a 
customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group recognises revenue when it transfers 
control of a product or service to a customer.

 Revenue from industrial activities 
 Revenue from industrial activities includes revenue from sale of cement. Revenue from industrial activities is recognized 

when control of the goods has transferred, being when the goods have been shipped to the customer’s specific location 
(delivery). Following delivery, the customer has full discretion over the manner of distribution and price to sell the 
goods, has the primary responsibility when onselling the goods and bears the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation 
to the goods. A receivable is recognized by the Group when the goods are delivered to the customer as this represents 
the point in time at which the right to consideration becomes unconditional, as only the passage of time is required 
before payment is due.

3.   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
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 Services revenue
 Services revenue includes installation services relating to security equipment, and shipping agency services. Services 

revenue is recognised at a point over time as a performance obligation is satisfied. Revenue is recognised for these 
services based on the stage of completion of the contract. The management has assessed that the stage of completion 
determined as the proportion of the total time expected to render the service that has elapsed at the end of the 
reporting period is an appropriate measure of progress towards complete satisfaction of these performance obligations 
under IFRS 15. Payment for such services is not due from the customer until the services are complete and therefore 
a contract asset is recognised over the period in which the services are performed representing the entity’s right to 
consideration for the services performed to date.

 Contracting revenues
 Contracting revenues are under long-term contracts with customers. Such contracts are entered before construction 

begins. Under the terms of the contracts, the Group has an enforceable right to payment for work done. Contract 
revenues are therefore recognised over time on a cost-to-cost method, i.e., based on the proportion of contract costs 
incurred for work performed to date relative the estimated total contract costs. The management considers that this 
input method is an appropriate measure of the progress towards complete satisfaction of these performance obligations 
under IFRS 15.

 The Group becomes entitled to invoice customers based on achieving a series of performance-related milestones. When 
a particular milestone is reached, the customer is sent a relative statement of work and an invoice for the related 
milestone payment. The Group will previously have recognised a contract asset for any work performed. Any amount 
previously recognised as a contract asset is reclassified to trade receivables at the point at which it is invoiced to 
customer. If the milestone payment exceeds the revenue recognised to date under the cost-to-cost method, then the 
Group recognises a contract liability for the difference. There is not considered to be a significant financing component 
in construction contracts with customers as the period between the recognition of revenue under the cost-to-cost 
method and the milestone payment is always less than one year.

 Revenue form rental of vehicles
 Revenue from services is recognised as the services are rendered, including where they are based on contractual 

daily rates for the renting of vehicles in respect of multi-year service contracts. Revenue from vehicles hired on time 
is recognised over time as the customer simultaneously received and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s 
performance as the Group’s performs.

 Investment properties rental income
 Rental income from investment properties is recognised as revenue on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 

Lease incentives granted are recognised as an integral part of the total rental income, over the term of the lease.

 Dividend income
 Dividend income from investments is recognised when the Group’s right to receive payment has been established 

provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group’s and the amount of income can be 
measured reliably.  Dividend income is recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on the date that the 
Group’s right to receive payment is established.

 Finance income
 Finance income from financial assets is recognized when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the group 

and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Finance income is accrued on a time basis with reference to the 
principal outstanding and at the effective profit rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition

3.   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

 Borrowing costs
 Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets 

that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of 
those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income 
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted 
from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalization.

 All other borrowing costs are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income in the period in which they are incurred.

 Foreign currency transactions
 In preparing the individual financial statements of the Group companies, transactions in currencies other than the 

Group’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated 
at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies 
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are 
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated. Exchange differences on monetary items 
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except as otherwise stated in the Standards.

 Leases

 Accounting policy applicable from 1 January 2019
 For any new contracts entered into on or after 1 January 2019, the Group considers whether a contract is, or contains 
a	lease.	A	lease	is	defined	as	‘a	contract,	or	part	of	a	contract,	that	conveys	the	right	to	use	an	asset	(the	underlying	
asset) for a period of time in exchange for consideration’.

 To apply this definition, the Group assesses whether the contract meets three key evaluations which are whether:
•		 the	contract	contains	an	identified	asset,	which	is	either	explicitly	identified	in	the	contract	or	implicitly	specified	by	

being identified at the time the asset is made available to the Group.

•		 the	Group	has	the	right	to	obtain	substantially	all	of	the	economic	benefits	from	use	of	the	identified	asset	
throughout the period of use, considering its rights within the defined scope of the contract.

•	 the	Group	has	the	right	to	direct	the	use	of	the	identified	asset	throughout	the	period	of	use.	The	Group	assess	
whether	it	has	the	right	to	direct	‘how	and	for	what	purpose’	the	asset	is	used	throughout	the	period	of	use.

 The Group as a lessee
 At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the balance sheet. The 

right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any initial 
direct costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove the asset at the end of the lease, 
and any lease payments made in advance of the lease commencement date (net of any incentives received). 

 The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement date to the earlier 
of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The Company also assesses the right-
of-use asset for impairment when such indicators exist.

 At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease payments unpaid 
at that date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate is readily available or the Company’s 
incremental borrowing rate.

 Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are made up of fixed payments (including in 
substance fixed), variable payments based on an index or rate, amounts expected to be payable under a residual value 
guarantee and payments arising from options reasonably certain to be exercised.

3.   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
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 Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for payments made and increased for interest. It is 
remeasured to reflect any reassessment or modification, or if there are changes in, in-substance fixed payments.

 When the lease liability is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and 
loss if the right-of-use asset is already reduced to zero.

 The Group has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets using the practical expedients. 
Instead of recognising a right-of-use asset and lease liability, the payments in relation to these are recognised as an 
expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities have been presented on the face of the statement of financial position.

 The Group as a lessor
 The Group’s accounting policy under IFRS 16 has not changed from the comparative period. As a lessor the Group 

classifies its leases as either operating or finance leases. 

 A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of 
the underlying asset, and classified as an operating lease if it does not.

 Accounting policy applicable before 1 January 2019
 Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 

of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

 The Group as lessor
 Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as receivables at the amount of the Group’s net 

investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic 
rate of return on the Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases. 

 Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial 
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased 
asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

 The Group as lessee
 Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception of 

the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is 
included in the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

 Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a 
constant rate of profit on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognised immediately in profit 
or loss, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised in accordance with 
the Group’s general policy on borrowing costs. Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the periods in which 
they are incurred. 

 Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where 
another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset 
are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which 
they are incurred. In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are 
recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-
line basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits 
from the leased assets are consumed.

3.   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
 Leases (continued)
 Accounting policy applicable from 1 January 2019 (continued)
 The Group as a lessee (continued)

4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 
 In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 3, management is required to make 

judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other 
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying 
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which 
the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the 
revision affects both current and future periods.

4.1  Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
 The following are the critical judgements and estimations, that management has made in the process of 

applying the entity’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in 
consolidated financial statements:

 Going concern
 Management has made an assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied that 

the Group has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. The Group has been profitable, 
and it had positive net asset (equity), working capital and cash flow positions as at the year end. Furthermore, 
management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. Therefore, the consolidated financial statements continue to be prepared on a going 
concern basis.

 Revenue recognition
 The Group applied the following judgements that significantly affect the determination of the amount and timing 

of revenue from contracts with customers:

 Identifying performance obligations in a bundled sale of equipment and installation services
 The Group provides installation services that are either sold separately or bundled together with the sale of 

equipment to a customer. The installation services are a promise to transfer services in the future and are part of 
the negotiated exchange between the Group and the customer.

 The Group determined that both the equipment and installation are capable of being distinct. The fact that the 
Group regularly sells both equipment and installation on a stand-alone basis indicates that the customer can 
benefit from both products on their own. The Group also determined that the promises to transfer the equipment 
and to provide installation are distinct within the context of the contract. The equipment and installation are not 
inputs to a combined item in the contract. The Group is not providing a significant integration service because the 
presence of the equipment and installation together in this contract do not result in any additional or combined 
functionality and neither the equipment nor the installation modify or customise the other. In addition, the 
equipment and installation are not highly interdependent or highly interrelated, because the Group would be able 
to transfer the equipment even if the customer declined installation and would be able to provide installation in 
relation to products sold by other distributors.

 Consequently, the Group allocated a portion of the transaction price to the equipment and the installation services 
based on relative stand-alone selling prices.

 Determining the timing of satisfaction of performance obligations for installation services (continued)
 The Group concluded that revenue for installation services is to be recognised over time because the customer 

simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group. The fact that another entity would 
not need to re-perform the installation that the Group has provided to date demonstrates that the customer 
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits of the Group’s performance as it performs.
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 Determining the timing of satisfaction of sale of goods
 The Group concluded that revenue from sale of goods is recognised at the point in time when control of the 

asset is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the goods, at which point the Group has a right to 
payment, the customer has legal title, physical possession, significant risks and rewards of ownership and has 
accepted the goods.

 Determining the timing of satisfaction of performance obligation for shipping and marine services
 The Group concluded that revenue from shipping and marine services is recognised over time as set out in 

revenue recognition policy.

 Determining the timing of satisfaction of performance obligation for vehicle rental services
 The Group concluded that revenue from vehicle rental services is recognised over time as it performs continuous 

transfer of control of goods or services to the customers. Because customer simultaneously receives and 
consumes the benefits provided and the control transfer takes place over time, revenue is also recognised based 
on the extent of transfer/completion of transfer of each performance obligation. In determining the method for 
measuring progress for these performance obligations, we have considered the nature of these goods and services 
as well as nature of its performance.

 Estimating variable consideration for returns and volume rebates
 The Group estimates variable considerations to be included in the transaction price for the sale of equipment with 

rights of return and volume rebates.

 Business model assessment
 Classification and measurement of financial assets depends on the results of the SPPI (Solely Payments of 

Principal and Interest) and the business model test (see Note 3). The Group determines the business model at a 
level that reflects how groups of financial assets are managed together to achieve a particular business objective. 
This assessment includes judgement reflecting all relevant evidence including how the performance of the assets 
is evaluated and their performance measured, the risks that affect the performance of the assets and how 
these are managed and how the managers of the assets are compensated. The Group monitors financial assets 
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income that are derecognised prior to their 
maturity to understand the reason for their disposal and whether the reasons are consistent with the objective of 
the business for which the asset was held. Monitoring is part of the Group’s continuous assessment of whether 
the business model for which the remaining financial assets are held continues to be appropriate and if it is not 
appropriate whether there has been a change in business model and so a prospective change to the classification 
of those assets. No such changes were required during the years presented.

 Significant increase in credit risk
 As explained in Note 3, ECL are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or lifetime 

ECL for stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased significantly 
since initial recognition. IFRS 9 does not define what constitutes a significant increase in credit risk. In assessing 
whether the credit risk of an asset has significantly increased the Group takes into account qualitative and 
quantitative reasonable and supportable forward looking information.

 Legal Cases
 Note 37 describes a number of legal actions against the Group. Management has chosen not to make a provision 

for any claims against the Group as the eventual outcome of the legal actions are uncertain and we do not believe 
will have any financial impact.

 Classification of associate
 The Group has various investments in associates. Despite holding of 50% of the shareholding of one such 

company, by virtue of the contractual arrangements, the Group does not have control over the financial and 
operating policy decisions and hence has a significant influence over these associate companies. 

4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY  (CONTINUED)
 4.1  Critical judgements in applying accounting policies (continued)
  Revenue recognition (continued)  Obtaining control of entities previously accounted for as associates

 As described in Note 32, during the year, the Group has obtained control over an entity, previously accounted 
for Investments in associates. Control was assumed through the appointment of fully authorised managers and 
thereby in accordance with the Article of Association, the ability to direct the relevant activities. Accordingly, 
the Group has consolidated in the financial statements of these companies with effect from January 1, 2019, in 
accordance with requirements of IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements. 

 Measurement of investment properties
 Management of the Group is required to choose as its accounting policy either the fair value model or the cost 

model and shall apply this policy to all of its investment property, except if it holds an investment property as a 
lessee under an operating lease, under which it is required to hold these investment properties only at fair value.

 The Group has chosen to adopt the fair value model for the purposes of measuring its investment properties in 
the consolidated statement of financial position.

 Depreciation of right-of-use assets
 Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a 

straight-line basis. If the Company is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is 
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life. Management reviews annually the useful lives of these assets. 
Future depreciation charge could be materially adjusted where management believes the useful lives differ from 
previous estimates. No such adjustments were considered necessary at the end of the current year.

 Impairment of property and equipment and right-of-use assets
 The carrying amounts of the Group’s property and equipment and right-of-use assets are reviewed at each 

reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. The determination of what can be 
considered impaired requires judgement. As at the reporting date, management did not identify any evidence 
from internal reporting indicating impairment of an asset or class of assets. 

 Property lease classification –Group as lessor
 The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property portfolio. The Group has 

determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, such as the lease term not 
constituting a major part of the economic life of the commercial property and the present value of the minimum 
lease payments not amounting to substantially all of the fair value of the commercial property, that it retains all 
the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these properties and accounts for the contracts as operating 
leases.

 Determining whether a contract is, or contains, a lease – Group as lessee
 The Group determines whether a contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the 

use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. The right to control the use of an 
identified asset, is assessed by considering whether the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the 
economic benefits from use of the identified asset throughout the period of use and has the right to direct the 
use the identified asset throughout the period of use.

 Determining the lease term – Group as lessee 
 In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic 

incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension options (or periods 
after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended 
(or not terminated). The lease term is reassessed if an option is actually exercised (or not exercised) or the 
Group becomes obliged to exercise (or not exercise) it. The assessment of reasonable certainty is only revised if a 
significant event or a significant change in circumstances occurs, which affects this assessment, and that is within 
the control of the lessee. 

4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY  (CONTINUED)
 4.1  Critical judgements in applying accounting policies (continued)
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 The following factors are normally the most relevant:
•	 If	there	are	significant	penalties	to	terminate	(or	not	extend),	the	Group	is	typically	reasonably	certain	to	extend	

(or not terminate). 
•	 If	any	leasehold	improvements	are	expected	to	have	a	significant	remaining	value,	the	group	is	typically	

reasonably certain to extend (or not terminate). 
•		 Otherwise,	the	Group	considers	other	factors	including	historical	lease	durations	and	the	costs	and	business	

disruption required to replace the leased asset.

 Determining the incremental borrowing rate – Group as lessee
 The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, its uses its Incremental 

Borrowing Rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the group would have to 
pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a 
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the 
Group	‘would	have	to	pay’,	which	requires	estimation	when	no	observable	rates	are	available	(such	as	for	
subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions) or when they need to be adjusted to reflect the terms 
and conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s financial currency). The Group 
estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is required to make 
certain entity-specific estimates.

4.2  Key source of estimation
 The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the consolidated 

statement of financial position date, that have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed as below:

 Percentage-of-completion
 The Group uses the input method to recognise revenue on the basis of entity’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction 

of a performance obligation in accounting for its construction contracts. This is done by measuring the costs 
incurred to date relative to the total expected costs to be incurred (forecast final costs).

 At each reporting date, the Group is required to estimate stage of completion and costs to complete on its 
construction contracts. These estimates require the Group to make estimates of future costs to be incurred, based 
on work to be performed beyond the reporting date. These estimates also include the cost of potential claims 
by subcontractors and the cost of meeting other contractual obligations to the customers. Effects of any revision 
to these estimates are reflected in the year in which the estimates are revised. When it is probable that total 
contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the total expected loss is recognised immediately, as soon as 
foreseen, whether or not work has commenced on these contracts. The Group uses its commercial teams together 
with project managers to estimate the costs to complete of construction contracts. Factors such as delays in 
expected completion date, changes in the scope of work, changes in material prices, increase in labour and other 
costs are included in the construction cost estimates based on best estimates updated on a regular basis.

 Impairment of goodwill
 Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in the use of the cash-generating 

units to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the directors to estimate the 
future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate 
present value. Details of the value in use calculation are set out in Note 8.

 Fair value of investment properties
 Fair value is time specific as of a given date. Because market conditions may change, the amount reported as 

fair value may be incorrect or inappropriate if estimated as of another time. The management uses independent 
appraiser to evaluate the investment properties and believes that the value of investment properties reflects the 
fair market value of these investment properties. Information about the fair value of investment properties is set 
out in Note 7.

4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY  (CONTINUED)
 4.1  Critical judgements in applying accounting policies (continued)
  Determining the lease term – Group as lessee (continued)  Property, plant and equipment 

 The cost of property, plant and equipment is depreciated over the estimated useful lives, which are based 
on expected usage of the asset, expected physical wear and tear, the repair and maintenance program and 
technological obsolescence arising from changes and the residual value. The management has not considered any 
residual value.

 The Group’s management tests whether there is an indication that assets have suffered impairment in accordance 
with accounting policies. The recoverable amount of an asset is determined based on value-in-use method. This 
method uses estimated cash flow projections discounted using market rates.

 Provision for expected credit losses of trade receivables (ECL)
 The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables and contract assets. The provision rates 

are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by 
geography, product type, customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of credit and other forms of credit 
insurance).

 The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the 
matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. At every reporting date, the 
historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed. 

 The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and 
ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast 
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may also 
not be representative of customer’s actual default in the future. 

 Balances due from related parties, are also excluded from ECL calculation, as credit risk is considered to be nil 
based on the fact that these related companies are either directly or indirectly supported by the owners for any 
liquidity or financial crisis situations.

 Fair value of unquoted investments
 Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured at fair value for financial reporting purposes. In estimating 

the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where 
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group prepares an internal valuation using appropriate valuation techniques 
and inputs. Information about the valuation techniques and inputs used in determining the fair value of various 
assets and liabilities are disclosed in respective notes.

 Write-down of slow moving inventories
 The management determines the estimated amount of slow moving inventories. This estimate is based on the age 

of items in inventories and this provision is subject to change as a result of technical innovations and the usage 
of items.

4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY  (CONTINUED)
 4.2  Key source of estimation (continued)
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5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Depreciation charges for the year are allocated as set out below:
 2019 2018
 QR. QR.

Cost of revenue 100,438,113  87,496,860 
Selling and distribution expenses (Note 28) 411,945  477,468 
General and administrative expenses (Note 29) 3,365,286  3,351,768 

Total 104,215,344  91,326,096
 

6. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
  Land Buildings  Total 
Cost :  QR.  QR.  QR. 
Right-of-use assets recognised  
  under IFRS 16 at January 1, 2019 80,311,781 1,157,467 81,469,248
Additions 1,350,948 2,903,448 4,254,396

At December 31, 2019 81,662,729 4,060,915 85,723,644
   
Accumulated depreciation:   
Right-of-use assets recognised  
   under IFRS 16 at January 1, 2019 – – –
Charge for the year 7,170,110 730,449 7,900,559

At December 31, 2019 7,170,110 730,449 7,900,559

Net book value :   

At December 31, 2019 74,492,619 3,330,466 77,823,085
    
Depreciation charges for the year are allocated as set out below:    
   2019
   QR.
Cost of revenue   6,157,016
General and administrative expenses (Note 29)    1,743,543

   7,900,559

7. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

 Investment Properties under 
 properties development Total
 QR. QR. QR.

     
Balance as at January 1, 2018 511,212,474 257,926,199 769,138,673
Additions  – 11,067,943 11,067,943
Capitalization of borrowing costs for the year – 6,714,033 6,714,033
Net change in fair values of investment properties (10,571,323) 12,077,922 1,506,599

Balance as at December 31, 2018 500,641,151 287,786,097 788,427,248

Additions  – 8,249,579 8,249,579
Capitalization of borrowing costs for the year – 3,872,780 3,872,780
Net change in fair values of investment properties (22,451,415) (1,990,228) (24,441,643)

Balance as at December 31, 2019 478,189,736 297,918,228 776,107,964
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7. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Investment properties comprise of a number of commercial and residential properties that are or will be leased to third 
parties.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties as at December 31, 2019 is arrived on the basis of a valuation carried 
out at the date by a qualified, external, independent property valuer certified valuator in the State of Qatar and have 
appropriate recognised qualifications and experience in the location and category of the properties being valued.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use of the properties is considered to be their 
current use.

The fair value is determined by the independent valuer using the following valuation approaches in accordance with the 
International Valuation Standards Committee:

•	 Market	comparable	method	that	reflects	recent	transactions	in	the	same	area,	taking	into	account	the	characteristics	
of the property, the differences in location, and individual factors, such as frontage and size, between the 
comparable property, at an average rate.

•	 Replacement	cost	method	that	reflects	the	amount	that	would	be	required	currently	to	replace	the	service	capacity	
of an asset (current replacement cost)

Significant unobservable input(s)
Comparable rate per square meter are used for valuation, by taking into account the differences in location, and 
individual factors, such as frontage and size, between the comparables and the property.

All of the properties have been valued using the market comparable approach except for certain commercial properties 
which are valued using replacement cost method. A difference in the assumption of the rate per square meter of the 
comparable property could result in an increase/decrease in fair value.

There has been no change to the valuation techniques adopted in the property valuation reports during the year as 
compared to the previous year.
 2019 2018
 QR. QR.

Rental income derived from investment properties 5,894,107 5,485,964 
Operating expenses  (11,263,415) (4,910,090)
Change in fair value  (24,441,643) 1,506,599 

The Group has no restrictions on the realisability of its investment properties and no contractual obligations to 
purchase, construct or develop investment properties or for repairs, maintenance and enhancements. Details of the 
Group’s investment properties and information about the fair value as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

 2019 2018
 QR. QR.

Residential units 101,750,135 102,972,751 
Commercial property, land and others 674,357,829 685,454,497 

Total 776,107,964 788,427,248 

All of the investment properties are considered level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. 

8. GOODWILL
 2019 2018
 QR. QR.

Goodwill 312,819,226 312,819,226

The shareholders approved in their extra-ordinary general assembly meeting on April 26, 2009, the 100% acquisition of 
QIG Industries L.L.C. (Previously named “Qatari Investor Company W.L.L.”). The total purchase consideration amounted 
to QR. 879.0 million, which was settled by issuance of additional shares at a premium of QR. 435.73 million. This 
transaction resulted in goodwill of QR. 314.46 million.

On December 31, 2019, an impairment review of the goodwill was undertaken by the Management internally, on which 
the carrying value of goodwill with the anticipated recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units to which the 
goodwill was allocated. The recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units are based on value in use, which is 
calculated from cash flow projections for 5 years ending December 31, 2024 using data from management prepared 
budgets. A key assumption for the value in use calculations was the discount rate represented in the Group’s weighted 
average cost of capital of 14%. The Management estimates discount rates that reflect the current market assessments of 
the time value of money and risks specific to the cash-generating units, and they consider the appropriate risk adjusted 
discount rate is 14%. Changes in revenue and direct costs are based on an assumed compound growth rate of 3.5%, 
as well as past experience and expectations of future changes in the market.  The management concluded from this 
review that there were no indicators of impairment of goodwill. During the year, no goodwill was impaired (2018: QR. 
1,638,359).

The carrying amount of goodwill has been allocated to the relevant CGUs including Industrial, Marine, Contracting and 
engineering and Others.

Sensitivity analysis
The Group has conducted an analysis of the sensitivity of the impairment test to changes in the key assumptions used 
to determine the recoverable amount for each of the group of CGUs to which goodwill is allocated. The management 
believe that any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount of these CGUs 
are based would not cause the carrying amounts to exceed the recoverable amounts of the related CGUs.

9. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES
 The Group has interests in associate companies which are all incorporated in Qatar with a profit sharing percentages 
varying between 20% to 50%. Despite holding more than 50% of the shareholding of these companies, based on 
contractual arrangements, the Group does not have control over the financial and operating policy decisions and hence 
has a significant influence only over the associate companies at December 31, 2019. 

These associates are in the industry of shipping services, manufacturing and others. 

 The share of profit from investments in associates has been calculated based on the latest available financial 
statements of those associates or where those are not available, the management accounts. The Group’s management 
does not expect any material differences in the figures recorded based on management accounts when audited.  

All of the associates are accounted for using the equity method in these consolidated financial statements. 

 2019 2018
 QR. QR.
 
Net profit for the year 38,795,601  29,877,056

Share of profit from investments in associates 18,113,167  18,582,004

Share of other comprehensive income –    –

Share of total comprehensive income 18,113,167  18,582,004
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9. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Movement in the investments in associates balance during the year is as follows:
 2019 2018
 QR. QR.
 
Balance as at January 1, 56,156,761  84,962,250
Transfer to subsidiaries* (16,997,039) (31,363,687)
Share of profit from investments in associates 18,113,167  18,582,004 
Dividends from investments in associates (13,707,131) (16,023,806)

Balance as at December 31, 43,565,758   56,156,761 
 
 * During the year, the Group obtained control over an equity accounted investment. Accordingly, the Group has 
consolidated the financial statements of the company (see Note 32).

10.  FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS AT FVTOCI
At December 31, financial asset investments in equity investments designated as FVTOCI comprised of the following:

 2019 2018
 QR. QR.

Unquoted equity securities 7,205,676 5,351,135
 

Unquoted equity securities are carried at fair value are disclosed in Note 33.

These investments in equity instruments are not held for trading. Instead, they are held for medium to long-term 
strategic purposes. Accordingly, the management of the Group have elected to designate these investments in equity 
instruments as at FVTOCI as they believe that recognising short-term fluctuations in these investments’ fair value in 
profit or loss would not be consistent with the Group’s strategy of holding these investments for long-term purposes 
and realising their performance potential in the long run.

Impairment on investments in financial assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that an investment or a group of 
investments is impaired. Objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the 
investment	below	its	cost.		The	determination	of	what	is	‘significant’	or	‘prolonged’	requires	judgment.	In	making	this	
judgment, the Group evaluates, among other factors, historical share price movements and the duration or extent to 
which the fair value of an investment is less than its cost.

The investments fair value reserve represents the cumulative gains and losses arising on the revaluation of investments 
in equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI, net of cumulative gain/ loss transferred to retained earnings upon 
disposal.

11.   CONTRACT ASSETS 
 2019 2018
 QR. QR.

Gross amounts due from customers for contracts work 1,306,531  776,823 
Gross amounts due from customers for installation services 952,613  352,998 

       2,259,144 1,129,821

   
The Management of the Group measures the loss allowance on amounts due from customers at an amount equal to 
lifetime ECL, taking into consideration the historical default experience and the future prospects of the industry. 

As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not show significantly different loss patterns for different customer 
segments, the provision for loss allowance based on past due status is not further distinguished between the Group’s 
different customer base.

There has not been any significant change in the gross amounts of contract assets that has affected the estimation of 
the loss allowance.

12.   INVENTORIES

 2019 2018
 QR. QR.
 
Finished goods 4,316,180 3,622,686 
Semi-finished goods 412,328,308 294,296,007 
Raw materials 13,271,114 19,431,765 
Goods-in-transit 225,189 298,337 
Spare parts 49,876,327 52,250,008 

 480,017,118 369,898,803 
Less: net movement in provision for inventories (20,335,041) (8,592,561)

 459,682,077 361,306,242 

The movement in the provision for inventories was as follows:

 2019 2018
 QR. QR.
 
Balance as at January 1, 8,592,561 11,209,803
Net provision / (reversal) provided during the year  11,742,480 (2,617,242)

Balance at December 31, 20,335,041 8,592,561

 

13.   PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER DEBIT BALANCES

 2019 2018
 QR. QR. 
  
Accrued income 7,918,341  6,518,240 
Prepayments 12,698,325  11,062,784 
Refundable deposits 27,790,110  27,357,374 
Due from staff 1,374,708  335,986 
Others 165,186  14,967,339

 49,946,670  60,241,723

14. ADVANCES TO CONTRACTORS AND SUPPLIERS

 2019 2018
 QR. QR. 
 
Advances to contractors/ suppliers 42,005,163  54,923,816
Less: Loss allowance (9,823,678) (5,232,907)

 32,181,485    49,690,909

Refer to Note 33 for the details on the credit quality of the Groups financial assets, contract assets and financial 
guarantee contracts.
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14.  ADVANCES TO CONTRACTORS AND SUPPLIERS (CONTINUED)

The movement in lifetime ECL has been recognised for advances to contractors and suppliers that has been recognised 
in accordance with the simplified approach set out in IFRS 9.

 2019 2018
 QR. QR.

Balance as at January 1, 5,232,907  –
Net increase in loss allowance 4,590,771  5,232,907

Balance as at December 31,  9,823,678  5,232,907

15. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Related parties as defined in International Accounting Standard 24: Related Party Disclosures, represent major 
shareholders, directors and key management personnel of the Group, and entities controlled, jointly controlled or 
significantly influenced by such parties. Balances and transactions between the Group and its subsidiaries, which are 
related parties of the Group, have been eliminated on consolidation. Details of transactions between the Group and 
other related parties are disclosed below.

Pricing policies and terms of these transactions are approved by the Group’s management.

a) Due from related parties Relationship 2019 2018
  QR. QR. 

Al Misnad L.L.C. Common ownership 319,943  145,143
National Aviation Services Company Common ownership 200,000  200,000
Others Common ownership 1,985,550  4,031,004

  2,505,493  4,376,147

b) Due to related parties Relationship 2019 2018
  QR. QR.

National Aviation Services Company Common ownership 164,697  164,697
Others Common ownership 2,517,396  3,692,448

  2,682,093  3,857,145

c) Transactions with related parties  Nature 2019 2018
 QR. QR.
Relationship   
Associate
United Gulf Cement Company W.L.L. Sales 2,473,243 7,029,475

16. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

 2019 2018
 QR. QR.

   
Industrial activities 269,175,662  251,309,541
Contracting activities  14,941,578  10,950,560
Marine and logistics activities 36,422,937  29,362,077
Vehicle rental activities 4,203,483  –

 324,743,660  291,622,178
Less: Loss allowance  (21,260,693) (15,837,887)

 303,482,967  275,784,291

No interest is charged on outstanding trade receivables.

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. The expected credit 
losses on trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix by reference to past default experience of the debtor 
and an analysis of the debtor’s current financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general 
economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the current as well as the 
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date. 

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the current reporting 
period. 

The Group writes off / fully provides for a trade receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in 
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g., when the debtor has been placed under 
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or when the trade receivables are over one year past due, 
whichever occurs earlier. None of the trade receivables that have been written off / fully provided for are subject to 
enforcement activities.

The following table details the risk profile of trade receivables based on the Group’s provision matrix. As the Group’s 
historical credit loss experience does not show significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments, 
the provision for loss allowance based on past due status is not further distinguished between the Group’s different 
customer base:

As at December 31, the aging of account receivables is as follows: 

Expected credit loss rate 0.53% 6.28% 7.16% 26.90% 100% 

December 31, 2019 Less than 91 to 180 181 to 270 271 to 365 More than
 90 Days Days Days Days 365 days Total

 QR. QR. QR. QR. QR. QR.
Estimated total gross 
carrying amount at default 254,391,917 30,449,235 15,819,031 9,866,511 14,216,966 324,743,660
Lifetime ECL (1,344,914) (1,911,419) (1,132,849) (2,654,545) (14,216,966) (21,260,693)

Total 253,047,003 28,537,816 14,686,182 7,211,966 – 303,482,967

Expected credit loss rate 0.54% 1.17% 7.29% 70.34% 100%

December 31, 2018 Less than 91 to 180 181 to 270 271 to 365 More than 
 90 Days Days Days Days 365 days Total

 QR. QR. QR. QR. QR. QR.
Estimated total gross 
carrying amount at default 213,059,719 53,122,227 11,723,799 1,725,375 11,991,058 291,622,178 
Lifetime ECL (1,158,965) (620,204) (854,085) (1,213,575)  (11,991,058) (15,837,887)

Total 211,900,754  52,502,023  10,869,714  511,800  –    275,784,291 
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16. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (CONTINUED) 

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for trade and other receivables in 
accordance	with	the	simplified	approach	set	out	in	IFRS	9;	all	collectively	assessed:

 2019 2018
 QR. QR.

Balance as at January 1,  15,837,887 8,775,484
Provided during the year 5,422,806 7,062,403

Balance as at December 31, 21,260,693 15,837,887

17. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

 2019 2018
 QR. QR.

Cash on hand 729,090  1,249,374 
Bank balances:   
Current accounts 131,435,501  34,645,970 
Saving accounts 18,666,523  71,090,047 
Term deposits* 184,000,000  324,658,328 

Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents 334,831,114  431,643,719 
Restricted cash** 93,039,381  52,301,508 

Cash and bank balances 427,870,495  483,945,227 

* Short term deposits and saving accounts are placed with various local banks and earn effective profit rate ranging from 
0.80% to 3.8% per annum (2018: ranging from 0.80% to 3.8% per annum). Short term deposits have a maturity period of 
3 months or less.

** Restricted cash is mainly composed of dividends to be paid to shareholders, held at a dedicated local bank account 
in addition to bank margin kept as pledged account used to secure bank guarantees and letter of credits.

Balances with banks are assessed to have low credit risk of default since these banks are highly regulated by the Qatar 
Central Bank. Accordingly, the management of the Group have assessed that there is no material impairment, and 
hence have not recorded any loss allowances on these balances.

18. SHARE CAPITAL

 2019 2018
 QR. QR.

Authorized, issued and fully paid up share capital   
1,243,267,780 shares of QR. 1 per share
(2018: 124,326,778 shares of QR. 10 per share) 1,243,267,780 1,243,267,780

As per the instruction of Qatar Financial Markets Authority, the Group approved the reduction of the par value of the 
ordinary share from QR 10 to QR 1, at the Extraordinary General Meeting held on February 20, 2019. The share split has 
been implemented in the current period.

Share and per share data (except par value) for the periods presented reflect the effects of this share split. References 
to numbers of shares of ordinary share capital and per share data in the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements and notes thereto have been adjusted to reflect the share split on a retrospective basis.

18. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

Proposed dividends
On February 2, 2020, the Board of Directors of the Group proposed a cash dividend distribution of 5.50% of the paid 
up capital amounting to QR. 68,379,728 for the year ended December 31, 2019 which is subject to the approval of the 
shareholder General Assembly Meeting.

On January 30, 2019, the Board of Directors of the Group proposed a cash dividend distribution of 7.5% of the paid 
up capital amounting to QR. 93,245,084 for the year ended December 31, 2018. The above proposed dividends were 
approved by the General Assembly Meeting held on February 20, 2019.

19. LEGAL RESERVE
As required by Qatar Commercial Companies’ Law and the Company’s Articles of Association, a minimum of 10% of the 
net profit for the year should be transferred to legal reserve each year until this reserve equals 50% of the paid up share 
capital. The reserve is not available for distribution except in the circumstances stipulated in the above-mentioned Law. 
The Group has fulfilled its obligations during 2018 and is not transferring any profit to legal reserve in 2019.

20. BANK BORROWINGS  

 2019 2018
 QR. QR.

Facility I (i) – 1,488,077,037
Facility II (i) 1,526,557,729 –
Facility III (ii) 37,831,945 111,579,516

 1,564,389,674 1,599,656,553

 2019 2018
 QR. QR.
Presented in the consolidated statement of financial position: 

Current portion – Gross 196,761,333 213,079,543 
Less: deferred charges:  (72,719,068)  (95,776,529)

Current portion – Net  124,042,265 117,303,014 

Non-current portion – Gross  1,782,838,736 1,974,867,849 
Less: deferred charges: (342,491,327)  (492,514,310)

Non-current portion – Net  1,440,347,409 1,482,353,539 

Total  1,564,389,674 1,599,656,553

(i) During the year, the Group engaged into a new syndicated term loan facility agreement with two local banks 
to settle its existing facility, whereby the banks paid back the existing exposure that was carrying the effective 
profit rate of 6.05% per annum (2018: 6.26% per annum). The new facility amount of USD 407.9 million is currently 
carrying the effective interest rate of 4.96% per annum. Final maturity date of this facility is 10 years from the date 
of first drawdown and the repayments are to be made in 19 semi-annual instalments of USD 25 million starting 
from January 2nd, 2020 with final settlement of the balance loan value in July 2029. The credit facilities are to be 
secured by a possessory pledge over the cement plant, routing of revenue proceeds of the cement factory to the 
bank accounts, assign cement plant insurance, assign usage right over plant leasehold land favoring the bank to 
cover the limits including the profit and corporate guarantees from Qatari Investors Group Q.P.S.C. and a subsidiary 
company.

(ii) The Group also has a facility with a local bank to finance the Group’s construction of investment properties 
for a total facility amount of QR. 200 million. The last installment date of the facility is before end of 2022 with 
repayments made in 12 equal quarterly installments starting from the January 1, 2017. The credit facility was 
subject to a profit rate of 5% per annum until January 1, 2018 and 5.5% per annum for the remaining facility tenure. 
During the year, a repayment of QAR 77.6 million was made against the principal amount. The credit facility is 
secured by corporate guarantees from Qatari Investors Group Q.P.S.C and authorization letter from Al Khalij Cement 
Company L.L.C. (subsidiary company).
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20. BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including cash and non-cash 
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, 
classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

 As at January 1, Financing Non cash  As at
 2019 cash flows changes December 31, 2019
 QR. QR. QR. QR.

Bank borrowings 1,599,656,553 (90,800,215) 55,533,336 1,564,389,674

 As at January 1, Financing Non cash  As at
 2018 cash flows changes December 31, 2018
 QR. QR. QR. QR.

Bank borrowings 1,630,700,102 (85,334,494) 54,290,945 1,599,656,553

 

21. LEASE LIABILITIES

  2019
  QR.

Lease liabilities recognised under IFRS 16 at January, 1 2019  77,315,106
Additions during the year  4,254,396
Interest expense for the year  4,531,611
Payments of lease liabilities  (10,465,266)

At December 31, 2019  75,635,847

Presented in the consolidated statement of financial position: 

  2019
  QR.
Current portion: 
Payable not later than 1 year  10,757,266
Less: deferred interest expenses  (4,291,897)

Current portion - Net  6,465,369

Non-current portion 
Payable later than 1 year but not later than 5 years  35,971,642
Payable later than 5 years  58,493,539
Less: deferred interest expenses  (25,294,703)

Non-current portion - Net  69,170,478

Total  75,635,847

22. PROVISION FOR EMPLOYEES’ END OF SERVICE BENEFITS

 2019 2018
 QR. QR.
   
Balance as at January 1, 11,966,754 8,742,398 
On business combination 380,914 5,431,159 
Charge for the year 2,676,851 1,715,595
Paid during the year (6,359,365) (3,922,398)

Balance as at  December 31, 8,665,154 11,966,754 

23. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
  2019 2018
 QR. QR. 
  
Local suppliers / contractors 25,678,899  49,606,865
Foreign suppliers / contractors 5,450,014  2,111,568

 31,128,913  51,718,433

Trade payables principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs. The Group has 
financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the pre-agreed credit terms. The 
management consider that the carrying amount of trade payables approximates to their fair value.

24. NOTES PAYABLE 

 2019 2018
 QR. QR.

Notes payable 4,609,076 1,488,821
          
Notes payable mainly represent post-dated cheques for vehicle purchased.

25. ACCRUALS AND OTHER LIABILITIES

 2019 2018
 QR. QR. 
 
Dividends payable  55,863,972  51,641,504
Contractors and others claims 796,622  796,622
Electricity consumption  25,092,295  28,767,059
Accrual for social and support fund contribution (Note 30) 3,712,926    5,146,895
Advances from customers 4,260,276  6,851,752
Staff salaries accruals 1,550,000  7,610,489
Gas consumption  15,764,404  16,595,684
Consumables and spares payable 3,529,331  6,492,118
Marine and logistics services accruals 9,095,861  19,660,107
Accrued royalties 5,787,734  7,757,008
Accrued expenses and other payables 87,428,454  90,121,154

 212,881,875  241,440,392

26. REVENUE
The Group derives its revenue from contracts with customers for the transfer of goods and services over time and at a 
point in time in the following major product lines.

 2019 2018
 QR. QR.
Revenue – at a point in time   
Revenue from industrial activities 521,838,504  608,234,724
Revenue – over the time   
Contracting revenue 16,686,811  10,482,430
Services revenue - maintenance and other services 18,038,122  16,276,857
Services revenue - marine and logistics services 49,765,034  66,962,945
Services revenue - vehicle rental  22,404,600  –

 628,733,071  701,956,956
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27. COST OF REVENUE
  2019 2018
 QR. QR.

Cost of industrial activities  263,195,272  315,339,169
Cost of contracting revenue 18,305,834  8,501,128
Cost of marine and logistics services 4,137,133  4,460,287
Cost of  vehicle rental 18,580,724  –

 304,218,963  328,300,584

28. SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES
  2019 2018
 QR. QR.

Repair and maintenance 374,268  1,044,045
Salaries and benefits 2,255,299  2,803,061
Depreciation (Note 5) 411,945  477,468
Selling and marketing expenses 4,689,200  194,227
Insurance expenses 50,191  121,288
Rent expenses 201,167  501,228
Miscellaneous expenses 116,324  316,537

 8,098,394  5,457,854

29. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
  2019 2018
 QR. QR.

Salaries and benefits  67,313,402  60,700,497
Legal and professional charges 1,465,208  18,788,500
Fee and subscriptions  2,238,967  2,672,269
Depreciation (Note 5) 3,365,286  3,351,768
Depreciation on right-of-use assets 1,743,543  –
Repair and maintenance 3,338,002  2,778,339
Board of director remuneration 1,550,000  1,750,000
Rent expenses 3,922,946  5,132,861
Insurance expenses 925,143  313,517
Travel and entertainment expenses 383,250  622,699
Communication expenses 1,269,981  1,143,465
Provision for bad debts  10,062,405  9,597,218
Miscellaneous expenses 1,580,608  6,809,799

 99,158,741   113,660,932

30. SOCIAL AND SPORTS FUND CONTRIBUTION
In accordance with Law No. 13 of 2008, the Group has taken a provision for the support of sports, social, cultural and 
charitable activities for an amount equivalent of 2.5% of the net profit of the Group. As per the instructions issued 
during the year 2010 by the Ministry of Economy and Finance, this social contribution has been treated as distribution 
from retained earnings of the Group. The provision for the year ended December 31, 2018 was paid to the Public 
Revenues and Tax Department at the Ministry of Economy and Finance.

31. BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit attributed to the Group’s shareholders for 
the year by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year. 

There are no dilutive potential ordinary shares. The information necessary to calculate basic and diluted earnings per 
share based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year are as follows:

 2019 2018
 (Audited) (Adjusted)

Profit for the year (QR.) 148,517,023  205,875,812

Weighted average number of shares 1,243,267,780  1,243,267,780

Basic and diluted earnings per share (QR.) 0.12  0.17

As per the instruction of Qatar Financial Markets Authority, the Group approved the reduction of the par value of the 
ordinary share from QR 10 to QR 1, at the Extraordinary General Meeting held on February 20, 2019. The share split has 
been implemented in the current period.

Share and per share data (except par value) for the periods presented reflect the effects of this share split. References 
to numbers of shares of common share capital and per share data in the accompanying financial statements and notes 
thereto have been adjusted to reflect the share split on a retrospective basis.

32. BUSINESS COMBINATION
a) During the year, the Group obtained control over an entity, that was previously accounted as an investment in 

associates. Control was assumed through the appointment of fully authorized managers and thereby in accordance 
with the Article of Association, the ability to direct the relevant activities. Accordingly, the Group has consolidated 
the financial statements of the entity with effect from January 1, 2019, in accordance with requirements of IFRS 10 
Consolidated Financial Statements.

 Details of the purchase consideration, the net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

 Purchase consideration

  Total
  QR.

 Cash paid (i)  –
 Fair value of previously recognised investment in associate (ii)  16,997,039

 Total purchase consideration  16,997,039

(i) There is no cash consideration transferred with respect to the gain of control of the above subsidiary.

 The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed as a result of acquisition on the acquisition date January 1, 
2019 were as follows:

  Total
  QR.

 Cash and cash equivalents  11,578,054
 Property, plant and equipment  25,906,942
 Due from related parties  526,984
 Account receivables  2,991,226
 Prepayments and other receivables  858,713
 Account payables  (7,224,589)
 Due to related parties  (262,338)
 Employees’ end of service benefits  (380,914)

 Fair value of net assets acquired  33,994,078
 Less: carrying value of previously held interest in associate  (16,997,039)
 Less: non-controlling interests  (16,997,039)

 Goodwill  –
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32. BUSINESS COMBINATION (CONTINUED)

 Non-controlling Interests
 The non-controlling interest is measured by reference to the relevant share of the carrying value of the net assets. 

The profit is allocated to non-controlling interest and the accumulated non-controlling interest as at December 31, 
2019 is set out below. Summarized financial information of the subsidiary as at December 31, 2019 is also set out 
below:

  December 31, 2019
  Total QR.

 Current assets  19,712,427

 Non-current assets  21,819,307

 Current liabilities  (7,497,081)

 Non-current liabilities   (2,789)

 Equity attributable to owners of the Company  34,031,864

 Non-controlling interest  17,015,932

 

 Revenue  10,383,539

 Profit for the year  37,786

 Profit attributable to owners of the Company  18,893

 Profit attributable to non-controlling interest  18,893

b) During the previous year, the Group had obtained control over entities that were previously accounted as Investment 
in associates, by appointing key management personnel thereby obtaining the ability to direct relevant activities.  
The date of acquisition of control was determined to be February 1, 2018 and the transaction did not involve 
any transfer of cash consideration further, the percentage of ownership of the Group in these entities remained 
unchanged.

 In the year ended December 31, 2018 consolidated financial statements of the Group, the Group had consolidated the 
fair value of net assets of the entities acquired as part of the above transaction on provisional basis.

 During the measurement period, the Group has obtained additional information relating to the transaction and 
accordingly, have adjusted the previously disclosed provisional business combination as below:

 The assets and liabilities on obtaining control are as follows:

  Actual basis Provisional basis
  Balances as Balances as 
  at February 2019 at February 2018
  QR. QR.

 Cash and cash equivalents 46,609,335 46,609,335
 Property, plant and equipment 1,292,042 1,292,042
 Due from related parties 8,519,295 1,139,158
 Receivables 40,314,780 25,539,852
 Payables (24,555,061) (3,094,817)
 Due to related parties (4,021,858) (3,327,037)
 Provision for employees’ end of service benefits (5,431,159) (5,431,159)

 Net identifiable assets on business combination 62,727,374 62,727,374
 Less: purchase consideration paid/payable towards business combination* – –
 Less: pre acquisition dividends 35,000,000 –
 Less: carrying value of previously held interest in associate 13,863,687 31,363,687
 Less: non-controlling interests 13,863,687 31,363,687

 Goodwill – –

 * There is no consideration payable with respect to the gain of control of the above subsidiaries.

 

32. BUSINESS COMBINATION (CONTINUED)

 Non-controlling Interests
 Summarized financial information in respect of the above subsidiaries that has non-controlling interest is set out 

below:
                December 31,

 2019 2018
  QR. QR.
   
 Current assets 58,146,124 130,220,148 

 Non current assets 663,548  636,374 

 Current liabilities (13,992,376) (46,166,416)

 Non current liabilities (492,892)  (4,476,042)

 Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company 44,324,404 80,214,064 

 Non-controlling interests 22,162,202 40,107,032 

 Revenue 29,757,400 67,039,480 

 Profit for the period  9,110,338  17,486,690 

 Profit attributable to shareholders of the Company 4,555,169 8,743,345 

 Profit attributable to non-controlling interests 4,555,169  8,743,345 

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Significant accounting policies
Details of significant policies and methods adopted including the criteria for recognition for the basis of measurement 
in respect of each class of financial assets and financial liabilities are disclosed in Note 3 to the financial statements.

December 31, 2019 
 FVTPL FVTOCI Amortised Total Fair 
   cost  value
 QR. QR. QR.  hierarchy

Cash and bank balances (Note 17) – – 427,870,495 427,870,495   Level 1
Financial investment at FVTOCI (Note 10) – 7,205,676 – 7,205,676 Level 3
Advances to contractors and suppliers (Note 14) – – 42,005,163 42,005,163  Level 2
Accounts receivables (Note 16) – – 324,743,660 324,743,660 Level 2

Financial Liabilities     
Borrowings (Note 20) – – 1,564,389,674 1,564,389,674 Level 2
Accounts payable (Note 23) – – 31,128,913 31,279,822 Level 3

December 31, 2018   
 FVTPL FVTOCI Amortised Total Fair 
   cost  value
 QR. QR. QR.  hierarchy
     
Cash and bank balances (Note 17) – – 483,945,227 483,945,227   Level 1
Financial investment at FVTOCI (Note 10) – 5,351,135 – 5,351,135 Level 3
Advances to contractors and suppliers (Note 14) – – 54,923,816 54,923,816 Level 2
Accounts receivables (Note 16) – – 291,622,178 291,622,178 Level 2

Financial Liabilities     
Bank borrowings (Note 20) – – 1,599,656,553 1,599,656,553 Level 2
Accounts payable (Note 23) – – 51,718,433 51,718,433 Level 3
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
a) Fair value measurements 
 The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:
•	 The	fair	values	of	financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities	with	standard	terms	and	conditions	and	traded	on	active	

liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market bid prices at the close of the business on the 
reporting date.

•	 The	fair	values	of	other	financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities	are	determined	in	accordance	with	generally	accepted	
pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices from observable current market transactions and 
dealer quotes for similar instruments.

 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into 
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account 
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.

 Management considers that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recognised at amortised cost 
in the financial statements approximate their fair values.

 Valuation techniques and assumptions applied for the purposes of measuring fair value.

1) Fair value measurements recognised in the statement of financial position

 Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period. 

	 The	following	table	gives	information	about	how	the	fair	values	of	these	financial	assets	are	determined;

Financial
assets/financial
liabilities

Investment in financial 
assets (Note 10) – 
unquoted

Bank borrowings 
(Note 20)

2019
QR.

7,205,676

1,564,389,674

2018
QR.

5,351,135

1,599,656,553

Fair value
hierarchy

Level 3

Level 2

Valuation 
technique(s)
and key input(s)

Fair value

Amortised 
method

Significant
Unobservable input(s) and 
its relationship to fair value

Management’s experience 
and knowledge of market 
conditions of the specific 
industries

Discounted cash flow 
at a discount rate that 
reflects the Group’s current 
borrowing rate at the end of 
the reporting period

Fair value as at December 31,

Financial assets
Accounts receivables (Note 16)
Advances to contractors and   
   suppliers (Note 14)

Financial liabilities
Bank borrowings (Note 20)
Accounts payable (Note 23)

Fair value
hierarchy 

Level 3

Level 3

Level 2
Level 3

Carrying 
amount

QR.

324,743,660

42,005,163

(1,564,389,674)
(31,128,913)

Carrying 
amount

QR.

291,622,178

54,923,816

(1,599,656,553)
(51,718,433)

Fair 
value

QR.

291,622,178

54,923,816

(1,599,656,553)
(51,718,433)

Fair 
value

QR.

324,743,660

42,005,163

(1,564,389,674)
(31,128,913)

Except as detailed in the following table, the directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and 
financial liabilities recognised in the financial statements approximate their fair values.

2019 2018

Level 3 instruments
Investment in financial assets       
- unquoted (Note 10)

Fair value
hierarchy 

Level 3

Carrying 
amount

QR.

7,205,676

Carrying 
amount

QR.

5,351,135

Fair 
value

QR.

5,351,135

Fair 
value

QR.

7,205,676

At 
January 1, 

2019
QR.

                 
5,351,135

At 
January 1, 

2018
QR.

                 
3,038,800

Chang 
 in fair 
value

QR.

1,566,041

Chang 
 in fair 
value

QR.

2,023,835

Net
Addition 

of level 3
QR.

288,500

Net
Addition 

of level 3
QR.

288,500

Exchange 
rate 

movements
QR.

–

Exchange 
rate 

movements
QR.

–

At 
December 31,  

2019
QR.

                    
7,205,676

At 
December 31,  

2019
QR.

                                     
5,351,135

Net gains
recognised  in 
the statement 

of profit or loss
QR.

                   – 

Net gains
recognised  in 
the statement 

of profit or loss
QR.

                   – 

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

2019 2018

Level 3 instruments
Equities and other investments

Level 3 instruments
Equities and other investments

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
a) Fair value measurements (continued)

b) Financial risk management
 The Group’s Treasury function provides services to the business, co-ordinates access to financial markets, monitors 

and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the Group through internal risk reports which analyse 
exposures by degree and magnitude of risks. These risks include market risk (including currency risk, profit rate risk, 
and equity price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

 Market risk
 Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, profit rates and equity prices 

will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk 
management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the 
return. The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates, 
profit rates and commodity prices.

 Foreign currency risk
 The Group is exposed to currency risk to the extent that there is a mismatch between the currencies in which 

sales, purchases and borrowings are denominated and the respective functional currencies of Group companies. 
The functional currency of Group is the Qatari Riyal. The currencies in which these transactions are primarily 
denominated are US Dollars and Euro.

 Management is of the opinion that the Group’s exposure to currency risk is minimal as the Group’s significant 
transactions are denominated in Qatari Riyal and the US Dollar, against which the Qatari Riyal is pegged.

 The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the foreign exchange rates, with 
all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit (due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and 
liabilities). 
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
b) Financial risk management (continued)

  Change in US Dollar rate Effect on profit
  (QR.) (QR.)

 December 31, 2019 0.025 10,455,000
  (0.025) (10,455,000)

 December 31, 2018 0.025 10,192,000
  (0.025) (10,192,000)

 Profit rate risk 
 The Group is exposed to profit rate risk as it borrows funds at both fixed and floating profit rates. The risk is 

managed by the Group by maintaining an appropriate mix of debt and equity.

 Sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments
 Presently, the Group holds profit rate bearing loans to financial institutions that expose the Group to cash flow profit 

rate risk. In case of 50 basis points increase / decrease in profit rate on December 31, 2019, with all other variables 
held constant, the net assets and income of the Group for the year would change as follows:

  Increase / (decrease) Effect on profit 
 in basis points (QR.)

 December 31, 2019

 Liabilities 50 7,821,900
  (50) (7,821,900)

 December 31, 2018

 Liabilities 50 7,998,300
  (50) (7,998,300)

 Equity price risks
 Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate because of 

changes in market prices (other than those arising from profit rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes are 
caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial 
instruments traded in the market.

 The Group’s quoted equity securities are susceptible to market price risk arising from uncertainties about future 
values of the investment securities. The Group manages the equity price risk through diversification. Reports on the 
equity portfolio are submitted to the Group’s Board of Directors on a regular basis. The Board of Directors review and 
approve all equity investment decisions.

 A decrease of 10% in the fair values of the quoted securities would not significantly affect the profit and equity of 
the Group. 

 Credit risk
 Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss 

to the Group. As at December 31, 2019, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking into account 
any collateral held or other credit enhancements, which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to 
discharge an obligation by the counterparties and financial guarantees provided by the Group arises from:
•	 the	carrying	amount	of	the	respective	recognised	financial	assets	as	stated	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	
financial	position;	and

•	 the	maximum	amount	the	entity	would	have	to	pay	if	the	financial	guarantee	is	called	upon,	irrespective	of	the	
likelihood of the guarantee being exercised and the related loss allowance as disclosed in Note 16. 

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
b) Financial risk management (continued)
 Credit risk (continued)

 In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has tasked its management to develop and maintain the Group’s credit 
risk grading to categorise exposures according to their degree of risk of default. The credit rating information is 
supplied by independent rating agencies where available and, if not available, the management uses other publicly 
available financial information and the Group’s own trading records to rate its major customers and other debtors. 
The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate 
value of transactions concluded is spread amongst approved counterparties.

  The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises the following categories:

 Category Description Basis for recognising

 Performing The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not  12-month ECL 
  have any past-due amounts 

 Doubtful When there has been a significant increase in credit risk  Lifetime ECL – not credit 
  since initial recognition impaired 

 In default When there is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired Lifetime ECL – credit-impaired

 Write-off There is evidence indicating that there is a severe  Amount is written off 
  financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic  
  prospect of recovery 

 The tables below detail the credit quality of the Group’s financial assets, contract assets and financial guarantee 
contracts, as well as the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk by credit risk rating grades:

 December 31, 2019  12-month or 
   lifetime Gross carrying Loss Net carrying
  Note ECL amount allowance amount

    QR. QR. QR.
 Accounts
 Receivables 16 Lifetime ECL 324,743,660 (21,260,693)   303,482,967  
 Contract assets 11 Lifetime ECL 2,259,144 – 2,259,144
 Due from related parties 15(a) Lifetime ECL   2,505,493   –   2,505,493  
 Investments in financial   
    assets at FVTOCI 10 Lifetime ECL    7,205,676   –   7,205,676

 December 31, 2018  12-month or 
   lifetime Gross carrying Loss Net carrying
  Note ECL amount allowance amount

    QR. QR. QR.
 Accounts
 Receivables 16 Lifetime ECL 291,622,178 (15,837,887)   275,784,291  
 Contract assets 11 Lifetime ECL 1,129,821 – 1,129,821
 Due from related parties 15(a) Lifetime ECL   4,376,147   –     4,376,147  
 Investments in financial  
    assets at FVTOCI 10 Lifetime ECL    5,351,135   –    5,351,135  

(i) For trade receivables, contract assets and due from related parties, the Group has applied the simplified approach 
in IFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group determines the expected credit losses on these 
items by using a provision matrix, estimated based on historical credit loss experience based on the past due status 
of the debtors, adjusted as appropriate to reflect current conditions and estimates of future economic conditions. 
Accordingly, the credit risk profile of these assets is presented based on their past due status in terms of the 
provision matrix.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
b) Financial risk management (continued)

 Liquidity risk
 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s 

approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet 
its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking 
damage to the Group’s reputation.

 Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors, which has built an appropriate 
liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Group’s short, medium and long-term funding and 
liquidity management requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking 
facilities and reserve borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the 
maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

 The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities based on the remaining period at the 
reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted 
cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not 
significant.

 December 31, 2019 Carrying Contractual Less than More than
  Amounts cash flows 1 year 1 year
  QR. QR. QR. QR.

 Bank borrowing 1,564,389,674 1,979,600,069 196,761,333 1,782,838,736
 Account payables 31,128,913 31,128,913 31,128,913 –
 Due to related parties 2,682,093 2,682,093 2,682,093 –
 Retention payable 23,953,953 23,953,953 23,953,953 –
 Accruals and other liabilities 212,881,875 212,881,875 212,881,875 –
 Notes payable 4,609,076 4,609,076 4,609,076 –

   1,839,645,584 2,254,855,979 472,017,243 1,782,838,736

 December 31, 2018 Carrying Contractual Less than More than
  Amounts cash flows 1 year 1 year
  QR. QR. QR. QR.

 Bank borrowings  1,599,656,553   2,187,945,807   213,078,305  1,974,867,502
 Account payables  51,718,433   51,718,433   51,718,433  –
 Due to related parties  3,857,145   3,857,145   3,857,145  –
 Retention payable  25,667,249   25,667,249   25,667,249  –
 Accruals and other liabilities 241,440,392 241,440,392 241,440,392 –
 Notes payable  1,488,821   1,488,821   1,488,821  –

   1,923,828,593 2,512,117,847 537,250,345 1,974,867,502

 The following table details the Group’s expected maturity for its non-derivative financial assets. The table has been 
drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial assets. The inclusion of information on 
non-derivative financial assets is necessary in order to understand the Group’s liquidity risk management as the 
liquidity is managed on a net asset and liability basis.

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
b) Financial risk management (continued)
 Liquidity risk (continued)
   
 At December 31, 2019 Less than More than 
  1 year 1 year Total
  QR QR QR
 
 Trade receivable 324,743,660 – 324,743,660
 Prepayments and other debit balances 49,946,670 – 49,946,670
 Contract assets 2,259,144 – 2,259,144
 Financial assets at FVTOCI – 7,205,676 7,205,676

  376,949,474 7,205,676 384,155,150

 At December 31, 2018 Less than More than 
  1 year 1 year Total
  QR QR QR
 
 Trade receivable 291,622,178  – 291,622,178 
 Prepayments and other debit balances  60,241,723  – 60,241,723 
 Contract assets   1,129,831   – 1,129,831  
 Financial assets at FVTOCI – 5,351,135 5,351,135

   352,993,732 5,351,135 358,344,867

c) Capital risk management  
 The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and 

healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximize shareholders value.

 The Group actively monitors and manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in 
economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to 
shareholders, after fulfilling senior debt obligations, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes 
were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018.

 The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is debt divided by capital plus debt. 

 The gearing ratio at the year-end was as follows:

 2019 2018
 QR. QR.
   

Debt (i) 1,564,389,674  1,599,656,553 
Cash (Note 17) (427,870,495)  (483,945,227)

Net debt 1,136,519,179 1,115,711,326
Equity (ii) 2,854,803,275  2,802,605,865

Net debt to equity ratio 40% 40%

 (i)  Debt is defined as borrowings.

 (ii) Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group that are managed as capital.
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34. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
  2019 2018
 QR. QR. 
 
Letters of bank guarantees 25,800,027 17,186,142

Letters of credit 278,231 204,160

Secured cheques 19,338,087 8,230,797

Properties under development 5,543,424 5,543,424

35.  COMMITMENTS UNDER OPERATING LEASES

The Group as lessor

As set out in Note 7 property rental income earned during the year was QR. 5,894,107 (2018: QR. 5,484,508). All operating 
lease contracts contain market review clauses in the event that the lessee exercises its option to renew. The lessee does 
not have an option to purchase the property at the expiry of the lease period.

The future lease commitments in respect of the above lease agreements are as follows:
  2019 2018
 QR. QR.

Not later than 1 year 4,757,956 2,126,450
Later than 1 year and not longer than 5 years 2,308,680 184,946
Later than 5 years – –

 7,066,636 2,311,396

36. SEGMENT INFORMATION

(a) Basis for segmentation
 The Group has the following seven strategic divisions, which are its reportable segments. These divisions offer 

different products and services, and are managed separately because they require different technology and 
marketing strategies.

 The following summary describes the operations of each segment.

 Reportable segment Operations
 Real estate Purchase, construction and selling of lands and buildings
 Marine services  Shipping, logistics, marine and aviation services.
 Industrial General industrial activity
 Contracting and technology Supply, installation of security system
 Trading Trading of sports equipment etc.
 Others Investments in agencies, sponsorship shares, vehicle rental and 
  engineering businesses. 

 The Chief Executive Officer reviews internal management reports of each division at least quarterly. Other operations 
include financial services, agencies, information technology services and the holding activities. None of these 
segments meet the quantitative thresholds for reporting segments in 2019 or 2018.
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37. LEGAL CASES

As of December 31, 2019, legal cases filed against the Group are as follows:

1) Verifying Shares Ownership of a Major Shareholder Case:
 Raised by Al Misnad Company LLC

2) Invalidation Cases:
 Raised by Ezdan Group Holding and its subsidiaries representatives (Al Sawan Trading & Contracting, Al Eklim Real 

Estate Brokerage, Al Itqan Trading, Ithmar Construction & Trading, Al Tayibin Trading, Al Manara Medical Equipment, 
Ayn Jalot Company, Al Qara Trading Company, Al Ruba Alkhali Trading, Alkora Alzahabiya Company, Tariq Alkhair 
Company, Arkan for Import & Export)

A.  Lawsuits related to the invalid ownership of shares by a major shareholder for shares in the company.
Lawsuits from companies owned by Ezdan Holding: Al Sawan Trading & Contracting, Arkan for Import & Export, 
Tariq Al Khair Company. (All these are 100% owned by Ezdan Holding Company).

B.  Lawsuits related to the invalidity of Annual General Assembly Meeting Minutes held on 2015 onwards:
 Plaintiffs: Al Itqan Trading, Al Iklim Real Estate Brokerage Company, Al Tayibin Trading, Al Kara Trading Company, 
Al Manara Medical Equipment Company, Ruba Al Khali Trading, Al Sawan Trading and Contracting Company, 
Alkora Alzahabiya Company. (All these are 100% owned by Ezdan Holding Company).

C.  Lawsuits related to Judicial Management of the Group:
Plaintiffs: Al Iklim Real Estate Brokerage Company (100% owned by Ezdan Holding Company).

D.  Lawsuits related to forced changes in Articles of Association:
Plaintiffs: Al Iklim Real Estate Brokerage Company. (Company is 100% owned by Ezdan Holding Company).

 Most of the lawsuits mentioned above have dismissed in favour of the Group and they are no longer outstanding, 
unless appealed by the plaintiffs for prolonging the dispute. As of the reporting date, there is no impact of those 
lawsuits, which are in general repetitive in nature without any reasonable basis.

38. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The comparative figures for the prior year have been reclassified, where necessary, in order to confirm to the current 
year’s presentation. Such reclassifications do not affect the previously reported equity or net assets of the Group.

39. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There were no significant events after the reporting date, which have a bearing on these financial statements.

40. APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 The consolidated financial statements were approved by the board of directors and were signed on February 2, 2020.


